CHAPTER TWO

Epichloë spp. and *Serendipita indica* endophytic fungi: Functions in plant-soil relations

M.R. Mosaddeghi^{a,*}, F. Hosseini^a, M.A. Hajabbasi^a, M.R. Sabzalian^b, and M. Sepehri^c

^aDepartment of Soil Science, College of Agriculture, Isfahan University of Technology, Isfahan, Iran ^bDepartment of Agronomy and Plant Breeding, College of Agriculture, Isfahan University of Technology, Isfahan, Iran

^cDepartment of Soil Science, School of Agriculture, Shiraz University, Shiraz, Iran

*Corresponding author: e-mail addresses: mosaddeghi@iut.ac.ir; mosaddeghi@yahoo.com

Contents

1.	Introduction to fungal endophytes	60
	1.1 Leaf endophytic fungus: <i>Epichloë</i> spp.	62
	1.2 Root endophytic fungus: Serendipita indica	63
2.	The effects of fungal endophytes on host plant growth and tolerance to	
	environmental stresses	67
	2.1 Epichloë spp.	67
	2.2 Serendipita indica	82
3.	The effects of endophytic fungi on soil quality indicators	90
	3.1 Soil biological indicators	92
	3.2 Soil C and N cycling	93
	3.3 Soil aggregate stability	95
	3.4 Soil water repellency and hydraulic properties	96
	3.5 Soil mechanical properties	98
4.	Concluding remarks and future prospects	100
Re	erences	101

Abstract

Fungal endophytes, by living entire or part of their life inside a plant, are potentially useful in natural ecosystems and agroecosystems to confer multiple benefits to their hosts. These include improvement of water and nutrientional status, higher tolerance against biotic/abiotic stresses. In this review, the consequences of infection by *Epichloë* spp., as an obligative symbiont, and *Serendipita indica*, as a facultative one, on plant-soil relations have been discussed. Colonization and infection by both *Epichloë* and *S. indica* results in better plant growth and productivity, including enhanced root proliferation by indole-3-acetic acid production which in turn leads to a better nutrient acquisition. Moreover, the symbionts can confer both local and systemic resistances to pathogens/diseases through signal transduction. Up-regulation of antioxidant defense system components and reprogramming of stress-related genes in the presence of endophytic fungus can enhance plant resistance against biotic/abiotic stresses. Individual mechanical or drought stresses may impair plant growth and functioning; however, under combined mechanical and drought stresses, drought has little impact on the plant responses and mechanical stress mainly controls physiological attributes including water status and leaf proline. Endophyte-infected hosts usually have higher ability to do osmotic adjustment due to higher proline content. The physical, chemical and biological properties of rhizosphere soil might be changed by the endophyte infection too, presumably resulted in improving soil quality. Altering microbial communication structure and diversity, higher organic carbon storage, enhanced soil fertility and increased aggregate stability due to induced sub-critical hydrophobicity are some important influences of endophyte-host symbiotic relations on soil environment.

1. Introduction to fungal endophytes

The word endophyte, originally proposed by De Bary (1866), is defined as any microbe that spends its entire or part of the life cycle living inside a plant. Fossilized tissues of plant stems and leaves have revealed that plants have been associated with endophytic fungi for more than 400 million years; thus, they play a key role in driving the evolution of life on terrestrial ecosystems. Todays, endophytes are more specifically described in terms of their types (fungal and bacterial) and relationships with the host plants (obligative or facultative) (Rosenblueth and Martínez-Romero, 2006). Fungal endophytes may colonize plant tissues of root, stem and leaves with minimal or no detrimental effects on their hosts (Arnold and Lutzoni, 2007). They primarily consist of the members of the Ascomycota or their mitosporic fungi, as well as some taxa of the Basidiomycota, Zygomycota and Oomycota (Malinowski and Belesky, 2000). Fungal endophytes have been isolated from many different plants including trees, vegetables, fruits, cereal grains and other crops (Rosenblueth and Martínez-Romero, 2006) and it is estimated that at least 1 million species of endophytic fungi exist (Paul et al., 2012). These findings suggest the endophytes as a rich and reliable source of genetic diversity and novel, non-described species.

Endophytic fungi exhibit multifaceted interactions with their hosts including mutualism, neutralism, commensalism and even antagonism (Dastogeer, 2018) depending on the life history strategies of fungal species and the host plants (Saikkonen et al., 2016). Regularly, environmental parameters, fungus and plant properties might modify the nature of

plant-fungus associations (Schulz, 2006). For example, the association between asexual *Epichloë* endophytes and cool-season grasses can alter from a mutualistic to an antagonistic symbiosis, when herbivore pressure is low and nitrogen (N) availability for the host is restricted (Saikkonen et al., 2016). Moreover, it is revealed that systemic and vertically transmitted Epichloë fungal endophytes and their grass hosts have a higher probability of mutualistic interactions than horizontally transmitted (non-systemic) endophytes in herbs, woody plants and grasses (Saikkonen, 2007). Furthermore, upon leaf aging or senescence, fungal endophytes can shift to the pathogenic side of the continuum, thus becoming more widespread and causing external infections (Saikkonen et al., 2016). However, the relationship between the fungal endophytes and their host plants is usually considered mutualistic because the endophyte-infected plants show promoted growth and higher tolerance to biotic and abiotic environmental stresses. They protect crops against herbivores, suppress or compete with disease causing agents, and combat abiotic stresses. In turn, the host plant provides nutritional support, shelter and propagation opportunities to the fungus (Clay and Schardl, 2002; Schulz, 2006).

In recent years, many scholars have performed descriptive and comprehensive studies to evaluate the influence of fungal endophytes on plant morphological and physiological traits. However, important gaps in our knowledge are evident in the effects of endophyte-plant relations on soil physical, chemical and biological functions. Meanwhile, endophyte-plant associations have a significant impact on soil functions and plant growth (Compant et al., 2016) because, the endophytes regulate many important soil processes and functions like biogeochemical cycling, mineralization and immobilization of nutrients, litter decomposition, and maintenance of plant health and soil quality mainly by changing root architecture and releasing secondary metabolic compounds (Hosseini, 2015; Hosseini et al., 2015a, Hosseini et al., 2017a, 2017b, Hosseini et al., 2018; Ngwene et al., 2016; Slaughter, 2016; Soto-Barajas et al., 2016). Therefore, endophytic fungi, as a significant constituent of natural ecosystems, can play a key role in recycling of material and energy in the environment. Hence, the major points of this chapter are an overview on the roles of fungal endophytes especially Epichloë spp. (formerly known as Neotyphodium) and Serendipita indica (formerly known as Piriformospora indica), in plant growth and subsequently to the soil environment with reference to recent developments in endophyte researches.

1.1 Leaf endophytic fungus: *Epichloë* spp.

Endophytic fungi are classified into four functional groups according to their host spectrum, colonized tissue(s), transmission and host colonization pattern and ecological functions (Rodriguez et al., 2009). Class 1 endophytes are defined as Clavicipitaceous including *Balansia* spp. and *Epichloë* spp. associated with insects and fungi or grasses, rushes and sedges. Classes 2, 3, and 4 are included in the non-clavicipitaceous types. The diverse class 2 endophytes include fungi from Ascomycota and a few more fungi belonging to Basidiomycota (Dikarya). Colonizing the root, stem, and leaves of the plants and the formation of extensive plant-fungal infections are the most distinguishing attributes of this group. Class 3 endophytes are enormously diverse and develop highly localized infections mainly in the aboveground parts of tropical trees, nonvascular and vascular plants. Finally, Class 4 endophytes are known as dark septate endophytes [DSE] (Rodriguez et al., 2009).

Cool-season grasses (Poaceae subfamily Pooideae) such as important temperate forage grasses, tall fescue (*Festuca arundinacea* Scherb.), and perennial ryegrass (*Lolium perenne* L.), are frequently colonized with Clavicipitaceous fungal endophytes that include sexual and asexual *Epichloë* species (Card et al., 2014). *Epichloë* endophytes systemically infect aboveground tissues of the host plant especially most abundant in the leaf sheaths and reproductive structures. Previous studies have shown that vertically-transmitted asexual *Epichloë* species (29 species) are efficiently transmitted through host seeds (Leuchtmann et al., 2014) and confer numerous benefits to grasses including enhanced stress tolerance and herbivore resistance. However, sexual *Epichloë* species (12 species) produce filamentuos ascospores in addition to condia which are transmitted horizontally by symbiotic flies (Leuchtmann et al., 2016).

As the endophyte-infected seed germinates, the endophyte fungi grow intercellularly into the emerging leaf sheaths and concentrates in the basal parts of plant, but are sparse or not present in the roots (Christensen et al., 2008). In tall fescue, the hyphae of *E. coenophiala* fungus grow up in the stem and into developing ovules and seed head of the reproductive plant. Within the plants, the fungus develops in parallel to the long axes of the plant cells and stays between the cells, in the apoplast space which can be supplied with all of survival sugars and amino acids (Clay and Schardl, 2002). The life cycle of *Epichloë* endophytic fungi is schematically illustrated in Fig. 1. The endophyte infection is usually defined as a systemic



Fig. 1 Schematic illustration of the *Epichloë* endophytic fungus life cycle in host grass. (A) intercellular growth of endophyte into emerging leaf sheaths and host aboveground parts after seed germination, (B) concentration in the basal parts of plant and development of fungus hyphae in parallel to the long axes of the plant, and (C) growth of the *Epichloë* hyphae into developing ovules and seed head of the reproductive plant.

relation, which means that all of tillers or produced seeds by the host plant will be infected. Nonetheless, Saikkonen et al. (2010) have documented some cases in which only some tillers or a portion of the seeds from a given plant are colonized.

1.2 Root endophytic fungus: Serendipita indica

Class 4 endophytes (DSE) are limited to roots and characterized by features of having melanized, dark-colored, and septate hyphae (Rodriguez et al., 2009). Root-inhabiting fungi, containing mycorrhizal and nonmycorrhizal species, form a large part of rhizosphere fungi biomass and affect different aspects of plant life including plant growth and development, plant nutrition and plant tolerance against environmental stresses. Thus, root-endophytic fungi have potential to be used as biological agents for improving plant production systems. There is an increasing attention to the importance of root endophytes during the last decades. Like foliar endophytes, rootassociated fungal endophytes are abundant, taxonomically diverse, often phenotypically plastic, and their ecological functions appears to overlap with soil fungi, saprotrophic and pathogenic fungi, as well as mycorrhizal fungi (Compant et al., 2016).

Serendipita indica, the best-studied member of Sebacinales (Basidiomycota), was first isolated from the rhizosphere soils of Prosopis juliflora and Ziziphus nummularia as a contaminant during a routine isolation of arbuscular mycorrhiza fungi (AMF) in the desert *Thar* of Rajasthan, India (Varma et al., 1999). The S. indica has ability to penetrate and colonize roots of a wide range of monocotyledonous and dicotyledonous plants (e.g., arabidopsis, wheat, barley, maize, tobacco) under various environmental conditions (Unnikumar et al., 2013). Kost and Rexer (2013) provided a list of tested host plants of S. indica and Liu et al. (2019) suggested that root colonization strategies by S. indica and changes in the two phytohormone levels (i.e., jasmonate and gibberellin) are highly host-specific. Infestation by S. indica results in increased plant growth, enhanced resistance to biotic and abiotic stresses, enhanced phosphate (P) and nitrate uptake, and increased grain yield (Deshmukh and Kogel, 2007; Yadav et al., 2010). Some highlighted recent researches indicating the promoting effects of S. indica inoculation on host plant growth and productivity are shown in Table 1.

The *S. indica* exhibits most of the advantageous attributes of AMF by which was first considered as a fungus of the Glomeromycota. Similar to AMF, it has a broad host spectrum and exerts plant growth-promoting effects on its host plants (Kost and Rexer, 2013). However, the most important difference between *S. indica* and AMF is that the former is a facultative symbiont and can be easily cultivated on artificial complex media; whereas, Glomeromycota have an obligate biotrophic lifestyle and growing in association with host plants only (Kost and Rexer, 2013). Moreover, in contrast to AMF, *S. indica* infests only dead and dying root cells. Its fungal mycelium covers the surface of the roots, and hyphae penetrate into inter- and intracellular spaces of cortical and epidermal cells at the root cap region and finally produce chlamydospores in these cells (Fig. 2C–F); whereas, the central cylinder of the root and stems or leaves of the host plants are always free of fungal hyphae (Deshmukh et al., 2006).

The results of 20 years of intensive and descriptive investigations around the world revealed that *S. indica* is a model species for basic science and technology. In addition, it shows an applicable potential as an important and useful agent in biotechnology and sustainable agriculture. Producing a large number of thick-walled and pear-shaped spores called chlamydospores is one of the beneficial features of the fungus which can be used as bioinoculant

Fungi species	Host plant	Beneficial effects of inoculation	Reference
S. indica	Cucumber (<i>Cucumis sativus</i> L.) Okra (<i>Abelmoschus esculentus</i> L.) Eggplant (<i>Solanum melongena</i> L.) Sweet pepper (<i>Capsicum annuum</i> L.)	 Vigorous seed germination and growth under in vitro conditions Enhanced root and shoot production and chlorophyll content of <i>S. indica</i>- inoculated <i>C. sativus</i> compared with auxin and cytokinin treatments 	Jisha and Sabu (2019)
S. indica	Chinese arborvitae (<i>Platycladus</i> orientalis)	 Increased net CO₂ assimilation Increased biomass of roots, shoots, and whole plants Greater total root length, total root surface area, and total root volume 	Wu et al. (2018)
S. indica	Rapeseed (Brassica napus L.)	 Increased main root length by 13.8%, root fresh and dry weights by 138.3% and 105.1%, respectively Higher shoot fresh and dry weights of <i>S. indica</i> inoculated plants by 94.4% and 93.4%, respectively Higher oil content by 11.1% 	Su et al. (2017)
S. indica + AMF	Pineapple (<i>Ananas comosus</i>)	 Increases in plant height of 70.8 and 65.0% in plantlets inoculated with <i>S. indica</i> and Mix (<i>S. indica</i> + AMF), respectively Greater number of tillers of 24.7 and 60.2% in plantlets inoculated with <i>S. indica</i> and Mix, respectively Better nutritional content than control More photosynthetic efficiency of the plants inoculated by <i>S. indica</i> or/and AMF in comparison with control 	Moreira et al. (2015)
S. indica	Coleus forskohlii	 Overall increase in aerial biomass, chlorophyll contents and enhanced phosphorus acquisition due to more lateral roots Increased source of metabolites for medicinal application 	Das et al. (2012)
S. indica + Paenibarthus lentimorbus	Chickpea (<i>Cicer arietinum</i>)	 Enhanced plant height of 34.4, 19.7 and 35.3% in host plants inoculated with <i>P. lentimorbus</i>, <i>S. indica</i> and their consortia, respectively compared with un-inoculated plants Increased dry weight of 64.6, 44.3 and 53.2%, in host plants inoculated with <i>P. lentimorbus</i>, <i>S. indica</i> and their consortia, respectively compared with un-inoculated plants Higher nutrient uptake of the plants inoculated by <i>S. indica</i> or/and <i>P. lentimorbus</i> in comparison with control 	Nautiyal et al. (2010)

 Table 1 Serendipita indica (formerly known as Piriformospora indica) mediated plant responses for better yield and quality of host plants.



Fig. 2 Pictures of (A) non-inoculated maize plant root, (B) *Serendipita indica* thick walled and pear-shaped chlamydospores, (C) hyphae penetration into inter- and intra-cellular spaces of cortical and epidermal cells, (D) and (E) *S. indica* spores and hyphae, and (F) *S. indica* round bodies in the cortical cells of plant root.

for agricultural crops (Fig. 2B). Easy production, surviving in unfavorable conditions and resuming vegetative growth on several synthetic and complex media under favorable conditions make spores a good candidate and alternative to chemicals for biofertilizers and biopesticides (Casula and Cutting, 2002).

2. The effects of fungal endophytes on host plant growth and tolerance to environmental stresses

2.1 Epichloë spp.

2.1.1 Biotic stresses

Biotic stress in plants is caused by living organisms, specifically viruses, bacteria, fungi, nematodes, insects, arachnids, and weeds. Many scientists have focused on the investigation of fungal endophytes as biocontrol factors of pathogen and insects worldwide and have successfully applied endophytes to plant protection (de Silva et al., 2018). Therefore, endophyte-plant symbiotic associations play a key role in determination of microbial community composition in natural ecosystems and yield production in agricultural fields. Here, some of the advances in research on *Epichloë* fungal endophytes impacts on plant tolerance against diseases and pathogens, are summarized and then possible mechanisms for diseases resistance are discussed.

Hume et al. (2016) reviewed the role of Epichloë fungal endophyte in grassland ecosystems. They reported that Epichloe infection not only reduced survival and performance of more than 40 species of insect herbivores including sap, leaf, and root feeders, but also induced changes in the performance of invertebrates at higher trophic levels, including predators and parasitoids of insect herbivores. Recently, Kauppinen et al. (2018) tested Epichloë endophyte effects on leaf blotch pathogen (Rhynchosporium sp.) of tall fescue (Schedonorus phoenix = Festuca arundinacea). They observed that the Epichloë endophytes can reduce the pathogen Rhynchosporium damages in tall fescues, but resistance to the pathogen depends on grass origin and environmental conditions. Iannone et al. (2017) examined the impacts of seed-transmitted *Epichloë* spp. endophytes on the alleviation of negative effects of head smut of grasses (Ustilago bullata) on Bromus auleticus. Their results indicated that head smut disease occurrence was almost 0% in endophyte-infected plants while in the endophyte-free counterparts it reached 33%, as a result, the lower biomass production and seeds were observed in the endophyte-free treatments. Xia et al. (2016) studied the effects of an endophytic fungus (Epichloë gansuensis) on photosynthetic ability

and yield production of drunken horse grass (*Achnatherum inebrians*) infected by *Blumeria graminis* under four different soil water regimes. Their results showed that while powdery mildew (*B. graminis*) significantly decreased photosynthetic parameters and dry matter of *A. inebrians* in all soil water conditions except severe drought stress (i.e., relative saturation of 0.15). However, the presence of the *E. gansuensis* could lower the damage caused by the pathogen.

Interestingly, the results of Pérez et al. (2016) indicated that the presence of asexual endophyte (Epichloë occultans) not only protected the host grasses (Lolium multiflorum) against soil pathogens but also had protective side-effect on the neighboring plants (Bromus catharticus) in soil infected with Rhizoctonia solani. Guo et al. (2016) studied the effect of the Epichloë endophyte on soil nematodes and their community characteristics in the rhizosphere of Achnatherum inebrians. Their results showed that the presence of the Epichloë endophyte significantly affected plant parasite index (PPI), maturity index (MI) and PPI/MI ratio. The MI values of soil nematodes were significantly higher in the endophyte-infected treatments in comparison with the endophyte-free ones, whereas the PPI and PPI/MI were significantly lower in the rhizosphere of endophyte-infected plant than in that of the endophyte-free one. Therefore, they stated that the Epichloë endophyte could change the composition of functional groups of soil nematodes, particularly that of plant-parasitic nematodes. Clement and Elberson (2010) and Clement et al. (2005) revealed that symbiotic association of grass-Neotyphodium was effective to impede the development and survival of the cereal leaf beetles (Oulema melanopus) and other insects. Moreover, Gonthier et al. (2008) have proven that colonization of fowl manna grass (Glyceria striata) by the Epichloë glyceria endophyte led to fewer fall armyworm caterpillars on the plant, and this enhanced resistance was wound-inducible. Dual-culture experiments of Li et al. (2003) and inoculation of detached leaves of drunken horse grass (A. inebrians) indicated that Neotyphodium gansuense could constrain growth and disease damage development by some fungal pathogens including seedling rot (Alternaria alternata), rust (Puccinia stipae-sibiricae), powdery mildew (Blumeria graminis), smut (Ustilago hypodytes), leaf spot (Bipolaris sorokiniana) and ergot (Sphacelia sp.). Meister et al. (2006) indicated that colonization of perennial ryegrass (Lolium perenne) plants by Neotyphodium lolii exhibited reduced aphid population size, and in some cases, the aphids exhibited reduced adult life span and fecundity.

Regardless of the increasing number of researches, the principal mechanism(s) by which endophytes adapt plant defensive system is often

unclear. The recent findings resemble that the endophytes inhibit plant pathogens through several potential mechanisms including direct effects (interaction between endophytes and pathogens), indirect effects (induced plant defense) and ecological effects (occupation of ecological niche). Direct protection against insect herbivores may be as a result of insecticidal compounds like loline alkaloids (N-formylloline, N-acetylnorloline), and the ergot alkaloid ergovaline or due to insect-deterring alkaloidal compounds such as peramine (Popay et al., 2009). Epichloë endophytes can produce a range of alkaloids including ergot alkaloids, indole-diterpenes, lolines, and peramine, depending on the presence of complex genes, that may have biological activity against pests or pathogens (Kusari et al., 2012) whereas environmental factors may affect alkaloid levels (Schardl et al., 2013). Some ergot alkaloid and indole-diterpene compounds have deleterious effects on mammals. However, these specific fungal alkaloid compounds from all four classes may cause delayed development and reduced mass and fecundity, which may decrease insect fitness and therefore indirectly reduce insect population sizes and densities (Saari et al., 2014). Moreover, it is documented that fungal endophytes produce several antibiotic compounds having antifungal, antibacterial, nematocidal, and insecticidal properties to strongly inhibit the growth of pathogens in plant (Gunatilaka, 2006). Perhaps production of antifungal compounds and secretion of allelopathic substances could limit fungal infections by pathogenic fungi (Vázquez-de-Aldana et al., 2013).

Endophytes indirectly influence the pathogens by strengthening the host plants via production of the secondary metabolites. Mechanisms such as endophyte-mediated changes in host defense chemistry are likely to be implicated in complex endophyte-host-insect interactions (Li et al., 2014). Releasing a set of volatile organic compounds (VOCs) like terpenoids, fatty acid derivatives and phenylpropanoids is one of the important inducible plant responses to biotic and abiotic stresses (Bastias et al., 2017). Li et al. (2014) found that E. coenophiala infection of tall fescue (Schedonorus phoenix = Festuca arundinacea) tended to increase VOCs emissions under intense aphid (Rhopalosiphum padi) feeding. They concluded that *Epichloë* colonization may play crucial roles in mediating plant VOCs reactions to herbivorous insects, however, the magnitude and direction of such responses may vary with the type of the Epichloë-grass associations. Moreover, Fuchs and Krauss (2019) reported that the altered plant VOCs by the presence of Epichloë led to attracting aphid predators and contributed to an increased indirect plant defense. Some of plant hormones including salicylic acid (SA), jasmonic acid (JA) and ethylene (ET) are responsible for controlling inducible defensive mechanism (Ballaré, 2014). Among these, JA is an important factor regulating responses to necrotrophic pathogens and chewing insect herbivores (Ballaré et al., 2012). Evidences show that *Epichloë* endophyte directly affects the JA pathway by increasing expression of the TFF41 plant gene (Bastias et al., 2017). The TFF41 protein has high similarity to v-3 FAD enzymes of potato and parsley, which increase the abundance of trienoic fatty acids that are precursors of JA (Johnson et al., 2003). Meta-analysis of Bastias et al. (2017) support the idea that *Epichloë* fungal endophytes would enhance immune system of their host grasses against chewing insects and necrotrophic pathogens by activating or preparing the JA pathway.

In addition, competition for plant space and resources may also occur between inhabitant fungal endophytes and invader pathogens (Zabalgogeazcoa, 2008). The presence of epiphyllous hyphae of *E. festucae* on leaf surfaces may restrict the growth of other fungi (Tadych et al., 2007). Iannone et al. (2017) stated that in triple symbiotic interactions, like when *Bromus auleticus* forage grasses are simultaneously colonized by the smut head disease (*Ustilago bullata*) and *Epichloë*, both systemic fungi compete for photosynthates, plant resources, shoot meristems and ovaries of developing flowers. If the endophytic fungal inhibits *U. bullata* from colonizing the seedlings or the ovaries, both host plant and endophyte benefit.

2.1.2 Abiotic stresses

The main abiotic stresses that plants confront are drought, mechanical resistance, salinity, nutrient deficiency, extreme temperatures, and heavy metals toxicity (Khare and Arora, 2015). Although plants have complex and dynamic resistance mechanisms against environmental stresses, however, abiotic stresses are the most detrimental factors affecting the growth and yield production in natural ecosystems and agricultural fields across the world (Hussain et al., 2019). Most studies of *Epichloë* effects on stress tolerance have focused on osmotic adjustment, water relations and drought recovery, accumulation of drought-protective osmolytes in the grass tissues, and photosynthetic rates under water or heat stress (Malinowski and Belesky, 2000). The most recent advances in research and possible mechanism(s) which endophyte-infected plants apply for coping the deleterious effects of abiotic stresses are highlighted in the following.

Drought is a multifaceted stress which alters the physiological, morphological, biochemical, and molecular traits in plants. Drought stress in plants is

characterized by reduced photosynthesis ability, decreased leaf water potential and turgor pressure, stomatal closure, lowered cell growth and elongation and elevated activities of ROSs (Hussain et al., 2019). The positive effects of endophytic fungi on the drought stress tolerance of plants are well established (Hume et al., 2016). Some of recent studies representing the effects of Epichloë on host grass performance under water stress (drought and flooding) conditions are listed in Table 2. Gathering data from all studies to date (i.e., 314 online references) on the influence of endophytic fungi on plant drought tolerance shows that the effect of fungal endophytes on plant function is related to plant water status (Dastogeer, 2018). Interestingly, the extent of endophyte infection effects is higher in host plants grown in waterdeficit conditions than those in adequate watering environments. The output of such studies depends on the identity of the plant-endophyte symbiosis associations (Dastogeer, 2018). In contrast to drought stress, there is a little information about the effects of Epichloë infection on plant fitness under flooding conditions. However, flooding is one of the major environmental constraint determining the pastures and agricultural productivity, especially in lowlands, while climate change will increase the risk of flood occurrence in the future (Song et al., 2015). Recently, Saedi et al. (2021b) investigated the physiological responses of Epichloë-infected tall fescue to oxygen stress in a greenhouse pot experiment. Interestingly, they observed that endophyte infection led to slightly greater root and shoot development, higher leaf chlorophyll content, and lower levels of catalase and ascorbate peroxidase under poor aeration. Moreover, their results showed that non-infected tall fescue coped with poor aeration conditions by the formation of adventitious roots at the soil surface, aerenchyma formation within the root tissue and increased alcohol dehydrogenase activity. Finally, they concluded that Epichloë endophyte presence decreases the flooding-induced oxidative stress and prevents the formation and over-accumulation of reactive oxygen species in plant cells.

Enhanced drought tolerance of tall fescue and perennial ryegrass in the presence of *Epichloë* is the most widely recognized model of endophyteinduced drought stress tolerance in hosts (Dastogeer and Wylie, 2017). *Epichloë* infection may increase host resistance to drought stress through *avoidance* and *tolerance* mechanisms (Malinowski and Belesky, 2000). *Avoidance* characterizes the plant ability to increase water uptake and to reduce water loss through developing extensive root systems, leaf rolling, closure of stomata and reducing of canopy area. Whereas, *tolerance* represents the plant ability to preserve its growth and survival under stress conditions,

stress	species	Host grass	Experimental context	Consequences of endophyte infection	Reference
Drought	Epichloë sinica	Roegneria kamoji	Induced water stress by PEG-6000 solutions	 Higher seed germination and seedling primary root length, shoot height, coleoptile length and number of fibrous roots Greater total root length, root surface area, average root diameter, root volume, number of root tips, and number of root forks Notable decline in the H₂O₂ content 	Bu et al. (2019)
	Epichloë gansuensis	Drunken horse grass (<i>Achnatherum inebrians</i>)	Controlled- environment pot trial in the greenhouse	 Increased plant height and chlorophyll content Decreased plant leaf number, and the CO₂ concentration Higher biomass, N and P content Improved water use efficiency 	Xia et al. (2018)
	<i>Epichloë</i> spp.	Festuca sinensis	Controlled greenhouse experiment	- Higher total biomass, plant height, tiller number, blade width, stem diameter, root length, root: shoot ratio and relative water content	Wang et al. (2017)
	Epichloë coenophiala	Tall fescue (Festuca arundinacea)	Controlled greenhouse experiment	 Increased ability to absorb water at higher soil absolute matric potentials (i.e., lower θ_{PWP} values) especially in soils with lower water holding capacity Greater survival time, relative water content and leaf water potential at the same time after irrigation stop 	Hosseini et al. (2016)

 Table 2
 Effects of Epichloë fungal endophyte on host plant performance under water stress (drought and waterlogged conditions).

 Water
 Endophyte

	Neotyphodium coenophialum	Two genotypes (75 and 83) of tall fescue (<i>Festuca</i> <i>arundinacea</i> Schreb.)	Induced water stress by PEG-6000 in a hydroponics system	 Higher chlorophyll content and membrane stability Higher concentrations of K⁺ in the shoots and lower Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ in roots Higher free proline contents Better drought recovery 	Bayat et al. (2009)
	Neotyphodium	Grove bluegrass (Poa alsodes)	Pot experiment in a controlled greenhouse	- 17% more total biomass, and 24% more root biomass and slightly shorter leaves	Kannadan and Rudgers (2008)
Water- logged conditions	<i>Epichloë</i> spp.	Festuca sinensis	Controlled greenhouse experiment	- Higher plant height, tiller number, total biomass, blade width, stem diameter, and root length	Wang et al. (2017)
	<i>Epichloë</i> spp.	Marsh bluegrass (Poa leptocoma) and nodding bluegrass (Poa reflexa)	Pot experiment in a controlled greenhouse	 Increased the root: shoot ratio of <i>P. leptocoma</i> by 58% No significant effects on aboveground biomass, belowground mass, number of tillers, and number of leaves 	Adams et al. (2017)
	<i>Epichloë</i> spp.	Wild barley (Hordeum brevisubulatum)	A greenhouse experiment	 Greater chlorophyll content, higher shoot and root biomass Higher proline concentration and lower malondialdehyde content and electrolyte leakage 	Song et al. (2015)

mainly through osmotic adjustment and expanding cell wall elasticity to keep the tissue turgid (Malinowski and Belesky, 2000). In the following, we describe some possible mechanisms in which endophyte colonization affects improvement of drought tolerance in host plant exposed to water stress.

Decreased level of photosynthesis, as an important consequence of drought stress, occurs in plants due to reduced production of ATP and some enzymes such as rubisco and sucrose phosphate synthase (Ghannoum et al., 2003). The *Epichloë* infection leads to higher chlorophyll content and leaf area (Hosseini, 2015; Xia et al., 2018) which is concomitant with higher photosynthetic rate. Morse et al. (2002) stated that the presence of endophytic fungi increased the plant photosynthesis rate and stomatal conductance under water-deficit conditions; however, it had no significant effect on initial rubisco activity and carboxylation efficiency. It means that the presence of endophyte might reduce biochemical damage to the photosynthetic machinery of plants exposed to drought (Swarthout et al., 2009).

Foliar endophytes may alter metabolic reactions in the plant, and may be responsible for the changes in net photosynthesis and stomatal conductance by production of plant hormones, glycosidases and proteases (Monnet et al., 2005; Newman et al., 2003). Rozpądek et al. (2015) studied the impact of E. typhina on the photosynthesis apparatus of Dactylis glomerata. They stated that colonization of D. glomerata by endophytic fungi increased concentrations of light harvesting complex proteins (LHCI and LHCII) as well as chlorophyll b, and eventually improved the plant growth, PSII photochemistry and C assimilation efficiency. Xia et al. (2018) examined the effects of E. gansuensis endophyte colonization on the photosynthetic indexes, including photosynthetic rate, stomatal conductance and transpiration rate, and water use efficiency of Achnatherum inebrians plants under limited water conditions. Their results showed that although endophyte-infected A. inebrians plants absorbed the same quantity of water as endophyte-free ones, however, water use efficiency of endophyte-infected hosts were greater than endophyte-free counterparts under drought conditions. They concluded that the colonization of A. inebrians by E. gansuensis endophyte increased the water use efficiency due to enhanced photosynthetic indexes and improved C, N and P accumulation, and thus increased plant biomass.

Decreasing water loss, continuing soil water uptake and maintaining cell turgor pressure by accumulation of various ions, amino acids and sugars, known as osmotic adjustment are crucial processes for preserving plant function and survival under water-deficit conditions (Dastogeer and

75

Wylie, 2017). Nagabhyru et al. (2013) observed that the presence of *Epichloë* endophytic fungi in tall fescue plants led to significant upregulation of free glucose, fructose, trehalose, sugar alcohols, proline and glutamic acid under drought conditions. Epichloë-infected plants can preserve considerably greater water content than the non-inoculated counterparts under drought stress, indicating the ability of endophytes to delay dehydration and plant wilting under stressful conditions. Hosseini (2015) studied the effect of Epichloë endophytic fungi on tall fescue water status, physiological characteristics and root morphology under individual and combined drought and mechanical stresses. Based on the results, the plants with endophyte had greater ability to produce proline and enhanced osmotic adjustment under stressful conditions. These results were concomitant with higher values of relative water content (RWC) and leaf water potential (LWP) in the Epichloë-infected plants. These results are consistent with the findings of Bayat et al. (2009) who reported that the endophyte-infected plants had better water status than endophyte-free plants due to more efficient osmotic adjustment and higher proline production in roots.

Formation of additional reactive oxygen species (ROSs) including superoxide (O_2^{-}) , hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) , and hydroxyl radical (•OH) are reported as the stress response agents causing oxidative damage and cell death in plants (Rho et al., 2018). However, lower ROS contents are often detected in endophyte-infected plants (Zhang et al., 2010). Multiple lines of evidence indicate that Epichloë endophytes produce enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidants, which results in degradation of reactive oxygen species leading to oxidative stress tolerance (Dastogeer and Wylie, 2017). For example, higher activity of superoxide dismutase (SOD) is reported in endophyte-infected perennial ryegrass plants subjected to drought (Briggs et al., 2013). Leuchtmann et al. (2014) observed higher ascorbate peroxidase (APX) activity in Epichloë-infected perennial ryegrass plants. Moreover, fungal endophytes may produce phenolic compounds, as the principal antioxidant agents in plants, which trigger plant immune system against oxidative damage (Torres et al., 2012; Van de Staaij et al., 2002). Huang et al. (2007) studied the correlation between total antioxidant capacity and total phenolic content of 292 endophytic fungal isolates. They identified phenolic acids, flavonoids, tannins, hydroxyanthraquinones and phenolic terpenoids as potential phenolic antioxidants and suggested that the endophytes themselves may be producing phenolic antioxidants. Ponce et al. (2009) reported significant qualitative along with quantitative changes in the phenolic composition of endophyte-infected Lolium

multiflorum Lam. Also, Qawasmeh et al. (2012) observed that infection with *N. lolii* significantly increased *L. perenne* total phenol content by 3 and 17%, and antioxidant capacity by 7–8%.

Salinity, as the most persistent and progressive problem in arid and semiarid regions, negatively impacts yield production and plant metabolism. Sodium toxicity induces oxidative damage by overproduction of ROSs which affects plant physiological and biochemical traits such as water use efficiency, photosynthesis, and nutrients uptake, and eventually resulting in cellular structure disruption and plant death (Munns and Tester, 2008). Only a few studies have shown that Epichloë endophytes can improve salt tolerance in host plant. Absorbing higher concentrations of K⁺ and lower Na^+/K^+ ratios in the aboveground tissues may help *Epichloë*-infected plants to follow their normal metabolism and to compensate toxic effects of Na⁺ under salinity stress (Sabzalian and Mirlohi, 2010). Wang et al. (2019) investigated the effects of Epichloë gansuensis endophyte on photosynthetic ability, the activity of N metabolism enzymes, N use efficiency, and yield production of drunken horse grass (A. inebrians) growing under different salt stress conditions. They showed that the nitrate content, nitrate reductase, nitrite reductase and glutamine synthetase activities, and the photosynthetic ability of Epichloë- infected plants, were greater than of Epichloë-free hosts under NaCl stress. They concluded that Epichloë infection improved the photosynthetic efficiency, increased the activity of N metabolism enzymes and N use efficiency which led to higher total biomass, especially under moderate and severe saline conditions.

Polyamines, small aliphatic N compounds, including diamine putrescine (Put), triamine spermidine (Spd) and tetramine spermine (Spm) can influence several plant physiological processes, including ion channels, antioxidant systems, photosynthesis and nutrient transport systems (Saha et al., 2015). Evidence indicates that accumulation of polyamine content resulting from various abiotic stresses is related to improvement of plant tolerance (Groppa and Benavides, 2008). Chen et al. (2018b) suggested that *Epichloë bromicola* infection improved wild barley (*Hordeum brevisubulatum*) salinity stress tolerance by enhancing conversion of Put to Spd and Spm, as well as improving transformation of free and soluble polyamines to insoluble bound forms of polyamines. Besides, Chen et al. (2018a) stated that the presence of the *Epichloë* endophyte reduced the adverse impacts of salt stress and alkali stress on wild barley (*H. brevisubulatum*) growth by improving photosynthetic ability, increasing total antioxidant capacity and glycine betaine content, increasing nutrient absorption, and osmotic and ionic

adjustment. Song et al. (2015) observed that *Epichloë* infection of *H. brevisubulatum* significantly increased N, P and K⁺ concentrations, which resulted to an increase in total biomass. The *Epichloë* colonization also lowered Na⁺ accumulation in the endophyte-infected plants compared to endophyte-free counterparts.

Mineral stress, characterized as poor availability of essential nutrients or toxicity of nutrient or non-nutrient minerals, becomes a serious concern in both high-input and low-input agricultural ecosystems. When resources such as soil nutrients are restricted, foliar endophytes may increase nutrient uptake (Shymanovich and Faeth, 2019). Effects of endophyte infection on plant uptake of nutrients other than N and P have received negligible consideration. Nevertheless; increased absorption rates for Ca, P, Mg, K, and some other microelements in endophyte-infected plants have been previously reported (Malinowski and Belesky, 2000).

Generally, plants take up nutrients throughout three main mechanisms including mass flow, diffusion and root interception. Mass flow as a passive process happens when dissolved nutrients reach the root surface by the movement of soil water. Plant transpiration, evaporation and percolation are the main drivers of water movement in soil. This process is mainly responsible for the transport of NO_3^- , SO_4^{2-} , Ca and Mg. Induced changes in leaf area, stomatal conductance, and aboveground biomass by *Epichloë* endophytic fungi could affect plant transpiration and eventually nutrients uptake (Soto-Barajas et al., 2016). Similarly, White et al. (1997) observed that high evaporation from the surface of stromata, a dense mass of fungal hyphae which are usually formed on developing parts of the host, led to the increased flow of nutrients needed by the fungus for reproduction, and those elements mostly transported by the mass flow (i.e., N, Ca, Mg, S, Mn and Mo) were found in higher concentrations in the xylem sap.

Diffusion as an active process is the movement of nutrients towards the root surface driven by concentration gradient. This process is the main mechanism responsible for the acquisition of P, K, Fe and Zn, and is susceptible to any chemical modification in the rhizospheric conditions. Releasing of root exudates including phenolic compounds and organic acids in the rhizosphere of endophyte-infected host plants has a crucial role in solubilization and absorption of some nutrients including K, P and Fe (Khayamim et al., 2010; Malinowski and Belesky, 2000; Soto-Barajas et al., 2016). For instance, roots of endophyte-infected tall fescue plants release phenolic compounds with Fe³⁺ reducing and P solubilizing activities (Malinowski et al., 1998; Malinowski and Belesky, 1999).

Root interception is a possible mechanism for plant nutrient acquisition which happens when essential elements come into physical contact with root surface. This mechanism is usually responsible for absorption of P, Ca, Mg, Zn and Mn (Jungk, 2002). Evidence indicates that *Epichloë* fungal endophyte changes root morphology and architecture, and mycorrhizal colonization (Hosseini, 2015; Omacini et al., 2012) which may affect nutrients uptake through root interception (Soto-Barajas et al., 2016). Increased nutrient content due to Epichloë presence was reported for Zn and Mo in perennial ryegrass (Malinowski et al., 2004), and for P, Ca or Zn in Festuca rubra (Vázquez-de-Aldana et al., 2013; Zabalgogeazcoa et al., 2006) and tall fescue (Malinowski et al., 1998; Malinowski and Belesky, 2000). Arrieta et al. (2015) investigated the effect of E. pampeana on the abundance and diversity of phosphate-solubilizing fungi (PSF), and arbuscular mycorrhizal colonization in Bromus auleticus rhizosphere. Their results indicated that endophyte presence had a positive association with mycorrhizal fungi and greater PSF diversity would enhance the phosphorus (P) availability to plants.

Recently, another possible mechanism has been reported for increasing nutrient use efficiency by endophytic fungi. Glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase (G6PDH) is recognized as a rate-limiting and key enzyme of the plant pentose phosphate pathway, and is involved in N assimilation (Wang et al., 2019). It is proven that endophyte infection increases activity of G6PDH in host plant leaves and roots than in those of endophyte-free plants. In fact, the presence of E. gansuensis played a key role in maintaining the growth of Achnatherum inebrians under N deficiency condition by regulating G6PDH activity and the NADPH/NADP⁺ ratio and improving net photosynthesis rate (Wang et al., 2019). Although Epichloë infection decreased total N concentration in Achnatherum sibiricum shoots, allocation of N fractions to the photosynthetic machinery was significantly higher in the endophyte-infected hosts (Ren et al., 2011). Consequently, Epichloëinfected grasses have higher photosynthetic N use efficiency and shoot biomass than those of endophyte-free counterparts when fertilizer is restricted (Ren et al., 2014).

Excessive amounts of nutrient and non-nutrient minerals are toxic for plants, and disrupt photosynthetic functions which finally lead to severely impaired plant growth and performance. For instance, disturbances in chlorophyll *b*iosynthesis and thylakoid electron transport are induced in the presence of Pb, Zn, and Cd (Wężowicz et al., 2017). Endophytic fungi may improve host productivity and competitive abilities under mineral toxicity

stress (Deng and Cao, 2017) by reducing metal availability, altering soil pH, releasing chelating agents along with multiple enzymatic properties (Ikram et al., 2018; Wenzel, 2009). Zhang et al. (2010) examined the effect of symbiotic association of Achnatherum inebrians with Neotyphodium gansuense on plant growth and antioxidant capacities under high Cd concentrations. They observed that endophyte-infected hosts had better water status, improved growth indices and higher enzymatic antioxidant activities than endophyte-free counterparts, especially under moderate and high Cd concentrations. They concluded that endophyte-infected A. inebrians may have better fitness and competitive ability under metal stress conditions because of enhanced antioxidant capabilities. Mirzahosseini et al. (2015) demonstrated that the presence of Epichloë confers Ni stress tolerance in tall fescue by avoidance mechanisms including reduction of Ni accumulation and translocation to the plant shoots. Similarly, beneficial impacts of Epichloë infection have been reported for tall fescue and ryegrass under Zn stress (Zamani et al., 2015), Festuca rubra under arsenic stress (Vázquez-de-Aldana et al., 2013) and, Festuca arundinacea and Festuca pratensis under Cd stress (Soleimani et al., 2010b).

Extreme temperatures, heat and cold stresses, are becoming the major concerns for plant scientists worldwide due to the climate change. Both high and low temperature stresses cause several changes at the molecular, physiological and cellular levels resulting in irreversible damages to plant growth and development. These include the loss of cell membrane fluidity, photosynthesis impairment, overproduction of ROS, and reduction of water absorption (Nievola et al., 2017). Recent findings indicated that Epichloë endophyte positively affects the tolerance of cool-season grasses to cold and heat stresses (Chen et al., 2016; Xu et al., 2017). For instance, Dupont et al. (2015) suggested that perennial ryegrass plants infected with novel E. festucae var. lolii had increased expression of cold response genes, meaning a better ability to endure cold stress. Moreover, Xu et al. (2017) showed that *Epichloë*-infected tall fescue had significant lower electrolyte leakage and ROS concentration; indicating that endophyte infection confers heat stress tolerance to host plants. Nevertheless, the exact mechanisms of heat and cold stresses tolerance induced by *Epichloë* infection are poorly understood.

Accumulation of various fungal bioactive alkaloids including peramine, ergot alkaloids, indole-diterpenes (especially lolitrems) and lolines, is one of the possible mechanisms for the enhanced tolerance of *Epichloë*-infected hosts in response to temperature stress (Chen et al., 2016). For example,

Zhou et al. (2015) evaluated the effects of cold shock on ergot alkaloid accumulation in three *Festuca sinensis* ecotypes. Their results indicated that ergot alkaloids, ergine and ergonovine were accumulated in endophyte-infected plants, whereas, these substances were not detected in the endophyte-free plants under cold stress treatment. The results showed that endophyte infection altered production of at least two secondary metabolites, the bioprotective alkaloids ergine and ergonovine, in response to short-term cold stress (Zhou et al., 2015). Besides, Xu et al. (2017) proposed that the main mechanism of better drought and heat tolerance of *E. typhina* endophyte infected tall fescue plants is likely related to less ROS production and promotion of particular antioxidant enzyme activity in the host plant.

Soil contamination, referred to over-accumulation of organic and inorganic chemicals or other changes in the natural soil environment, typically causes toxic effects on plant growth and beneficial soil organisms and acts as a source of groundwater pollution (Hernandez-Soriano, 2014). Heavy metals, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons associated with petroleum hydrocarbons, and herbicides/insecticides are most common soil contaminants (Bashiri et al., 2015). Due to the great damage caused by soil contamination, there is an increasing interest to utilize the potential of plant-endophytes interactions for the remediation of a variety of contaminated soils worldwide. Symbiotic relations of plants and endophytic fungi can improve plant growth and enhance the biodegradation of organic contaminants in the rhizospheric soil by possessing proper degradation pathways and metabolic capabilities (Weyens et al., 2009). Some fungal endophytes and endophyteinfected plants can produce chelating agents, siderophores, biosurfactants, low molecular weight organic acids, and various detoxifying enzymes, which are favorable for eliminating organic contaminants from soils (Soleimani et al., 2010a).

As far as known, there is little evidence about the effects of *Epichloë*infected hosts on polluted soils. Soleimani et al. (2010a) evaluated the effects of two grass species (*Festuca arundinacea* and *Festuca pratensis*) infected by endophytic on degradation of petroleum hydrocarbons in an aged petroleum contaminated soil. Their results suggested that *Epichloë* infection increased host root and shoot biomass and generated higher levels of water-soluble phenols and dehydrogenase activity in the soil. As a result, more amount of total petroleum hydrocarbons (TPHs) were degraded, indicating that endophyte-infected grass have more potential for removal of TPH from oil-contaminated soils. In fact, higher root biomass of endophyte-infected plants coincides with enhanced release of root exudates and water-soluble phenols, which trigger microbial degradation of TPHs (Soleimani et al., 2010a).

2.1.3 Combined stresses

Plants are often confronted with combination of several abiotic and biotic stresses and the plant response to combined stresses differs from that caused by individual stresses. For instance, the combination of drought and heat stress induces greater detrimental effects on growth and productivity of crops than when each stress was applied individually (Hussain et al., 2019). As mentioned in previous sections, several studies have revealed how fungal endophytes impact plant response to individual stress. Nonetheless, the outcome of endophyte-grass interactions under combined biotic and abiotic stresses remains poorly explored. Bultman and Bell (2003) mentioned that the protective effect of endophytic fungi infection on the host may be the most when environmental stresses, like drought and herbivore damage, are present. Advantages of host-endophyte symbiosis become most apparent in complex conditions where plants are exposed to multiple stresses (Miranda et al., 2011). In this regard, Hosseini (2015) investigated the interactive effects of mechanical and drought stresses on water status and leaf proline content of tall fescue in a greenhouse study. A sand growth medium was used and the dead-load technique was utilized to apply mechanical stress to plant roots. The results showed that in the presence of mechanical stress, drought has little impact on the plant responses and mechanical stress is the main controlling factor of water status and leaf proline content. It was shown that *Epichloë* infection improved plant water status by producing more proline especially under combined severe drought and mechanical stresses (Hosseini, 2015).

Some host tolerance mechanisms induced by endophyte infection such as production of fungal secondary metabolites and alkaloids, developing extensive root systems and increasing of antioxidative capacities in response to single stresses are discussed in previous sections (see Sections 2.1.1 and 2.1.2). It can be suggested that the fungal loline alkaloids may play a dual role in grass defense system against insect pests and drought stress. Additionally, *Epichloë* infection causes an increase in root length and a decrease in root diameter (Hosseini, 2015; Malinowski and Belesky, 2000), which are certainly expected to play a key role in drought tolerance and/or nutrient acquisition. Carson et al. (2004) stated that endophyte infection was associated with production of dehydrins, a group of intrinsically unstructured proteins abundant during late embryogenesis, which led to protection from drought and temperature stresses in several grasses, including tall fescue.

2.2 Serendipita indica

2.2.1 Biotic stresses

Plants colonized with *S. indica* show an improved resistance against many soil-borne and root pathogens and also exhibit induced systemic resistance (ISR) to different foliar pathogens (see Table 3). Here we describe some involved mechanisms of host tolerance to pathogens/diseases after root colonization by *S. indica*.

Plant hormones such as indole acetic acid (IAA), gibberellin (GA), cytokinin (CK), abscisic acid (ABA), ethylene (ET), salicylic acid (SA) and jasmonic acid (JA) show a significant influence on increasing plant growth as well as improving plant defense system against biotic/abiotic stresses (Xu et al., 2018). Several evidences suggest that these phytohormones play a vital role in the generation of ISR, where the microbes initiate processes in roots which induce systemic tolerance in the aerial parts of plants against microbial pathogens or insects (Verhagen et al., 2004). For instance, SA signaling pathways restrict the growth of biotrophic pathogens by killing the infested cells via programmed cell death (Panda et al., 2019). Moreover, alternative defense mechanism against necrotrophic pathogens is associated with JA signaling pathways (Glazebrook, 2005). S. indica interferes with phytohormones synthesis and signaling to enhance growth, flowering time, differentiation and local and systemic defense responses (Xu et al., 2018). The results of some studies have proven that S. indica inoculation is effective on conferring ISR against powdery mildew fungi in some crop plants by regulating JA, JA-responsive genes, ET and ET-responsive genes (Khatabi et al., 2012; Serfling et al., 2007; Stein et al., 2008; Waller et al., 2005). Cosme et al. (2016) investigated the effects of S. indica on rice water weevil (RWW) root herbivore (Lissorhoptrus oryzophilus) by monitoring of the changes in GA and JA signaling. Their results suggested that S. indica is able to protect plants against RWW adults and larvae through endophyteelicited GA biosynthesis which repressed the herbivore-induced JA in roots and recovered plant growth.

The presence of *S. indica* helps activating both enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidants and suppressing induced oxidative damage by pathogen/herbivore attacks (Ansari et al., 2013). Kumar et al. (2013) stated

Disease/symptoms	Pathogen	Host plant	Reference
Stem rot	Phytophthora cinnamomi and P. plurivora	Rhododendron (Rhododendron ferrugineum L.)	Trzewik et al. (2020)
Panama disease	Fusarium oxysporum	Banana (<i>Musa</i> spp.)	Cheng et al. (2019)
Bacterial wilt	Ralstonia solanacearum	Anthurium (Anthurium andraeanum)	Lin et al. (2019)
Early blight	Alternaria solani	Tomato (Solanum lycopersicum L.)	Panda et al. (2019)
Root-knot nematode	Meloidogyne incognita	Tomato (Solanum lycopersicum L.)	Varkey et al. (2018)
Botrytis gray mold disease	Botrytis cinerea	Chickpea (Cicer arietinum Linn.)	Narayan et al. (2017)
Sheath blight disease	Rhizoctonia solani	Rice (Oryza sativa L.)	Nassimi and Taheri (2017)
Soybean cyst nematode	Heterodera glycines	Soybean (<i>Glycine max</i>)	Bajaj et al. (2015)
Bakanae disease	Fusarium fujikuroi Nirenberg	Rice (Oryza sativa L.)	Hajipour et al. (2015)
Crown rot	Fusarium culmorum or F. graminearum	Winter wheat (Triticum aestivum)	Rabiey et al. (2015)
Root rot	Fusarium culmorum	Barley (Hordeum vulgare)	Harrach et al. (2013)
Verticillium wilt or viral pathogen	<i>Verticillium dahlia</i> or pepino mosaic virus-Sav E397	Tomato (Solanum lycopersicum)	Fakhro et al. (2010)
Root rot of barely	Fusarium graminearum	Barley (Hordeum vulgare L.)	Deshmukh and Kogel (2007)

 Table 3 A list of plant diseases and pathogens controlled by S. indica in different host plants according to recent researches.

that *S. indica* has a key role in triggering secondary metabolite biosynthesis and eliciting lignans production in hairy root cultures of flax (*Linum album*) which activates antioxidant machinery of the plants. Dehghanpour-Farashah et al. (2019) proved that *S. indica* restricted the wheat crown rot disease caused by *Fusarium pseudograminearum* due to enhanced enzymatic activities of guaiacol peroxidase (GPX) and catalase (CAT). They concluded that sodium nitroprusside (as a donor of nitric oxide) and spermidine (as a polyamine compound) significantly improved the impact of *S. indica* on host ISR by increasing H₂O₂ production, antioxidant enzymatic activities and callose deposition.

Gene expression regulation in response to S. indica, evidently reveals that this root endophytic fungus targets different genes and subsequently induces different physiological reactions in host plant under biotic/abiotic stress conditions (Gill et al., 2016). Up-regulation of pathogenesis related genes, JA (VSP, PDF1.2, LOX2) and ET (ERF1) signaling genes were reported in S. indica-inoculated host plants, in response to pathogen infection (Camehl and Oelmüller, 2010; Molitor et al., 2011). Hajipour et al. (2015) proved that S. indica can diminish the damage of bakanae disease (Fusarium proliferatum) in rice by up-regulating of some pathogenesis-related genes such as NPR1, PR1, PR4 and PR5, as well as two transcriptional factor genes namely WRKY62 and WRKY85. Similarly, Lin et al. (2019) reported that S. indica inoculation stimulates up-regulation of both the PR1 and PR5 (SA-responsive related genes) significantly in anthurium leaves infected by Ralstonia solanacearum, by about 0.5-fold levels. This suggests that the endophytic fungus has critical role in activation of JA-dependent defense processes and ISR mechanism in plant upon bacterial infestation.

2.2.2 Abiotic stresses

Drought: S.indica has been beneficially implicated in conferring plant protection against drought and salinity stressors (see Table 4) that threaten plant survival and functioning, worldwide. In the case of drought stress tolerance, S. indica modifies ROS detoxifying enzyme system, lipid peroxidation, osmolyte contents and expression of drought-related genes (Gill et al., 2016). Investigations at the cellular level indicate that S. indica colonization leads to up-regulating of 14–3-3 proteins responsible for both the stress tolerance and nutrient metabolism in host plants (Ghaffari et al., 2019). In plants exposed to drought stress, these proteins regulate plant transpiration through controlling of stomatal closure (Sun et al., 2013). In another study, Zhang et al. (2018) reported that the number of S. indica-responsive genes

type	Host plant	Experimental context	S. indica beneficial roles	Reference
Drought	Barley (Hordeum vulgare L.)	Pot experiment	 Greater shoot dry biomass by 1.1-fold and 1.3-fold in moderate and severe drought stresses, respectively Enhanced activities of both the photosystem and the electron transfer chain Enhanced production of sugars and organic compounds 	Ghaffari et al. (2019)
	Maize (Zea mays L.)	Controlled experiment in laboratory	 Decreased root diameter by 39% and 12% under moderate and severe water stresses Increased maximum root growth force and maximum root growth pressure by 1.1-fold and 1.7-fold, respectively 	Hosseini et al. (2019)
	Rice (Oryza sativa L.)	Pot experiment	 Increased seedling biomass and enhanced phosphorus and zinc acquisitions Higher chlorophyll fluorescence, proline content and improved antioxidant capacity 	Saddique et al. (2018)
	Maize (Zea mays L.)	Pot experiment	 Increased root fresh weight by 15% and 30% under mild and severe drought stresses, respectively Increased enzymatic activity of ascorbate peroxidase by 2.7-fold 	Hosseini et al. (2018)
	Wheat (Triticum aestivum L.)	Pot experiment	 Increased root volume by about 36% and 72% under moderate and severe drought stresses, respectively Increased chlorophyll content and decreased catalase activity under severe drought stress 	Hosseini et al. (2017a)
	Maize (Zea mays L.)	Pot experiment	 Increased root fresh and dry weights, leaf area, SPAD value, and leaf number under PEG-induced water stress Enhanced antioxidative activities of catalases and superoxide dismutases Up-regulation of drought-related genes DREB2A, CBL1, ANAC072, and RD29A 	Xu et al. (2016)

 Table 4
 Summary of S. indica-mediated responses of various host plants to drought and salinity stresses according to representative recent studies.

 Stress

 Table 4
 Summary of S. indica-mediated responses of various host plants to drought and salinity stresses according to representative recent studies.—

 cont'd

Stress

type	Host plant	Experimental context	S. indica beneficial roles	Reference
	Chinese cabbage (Brassica campestris L.)	Pot experiment	 Increased root fresh weight by 38% and leaf fresh weight by 46% Promoted development of the main and lateral plant roots Decreased accumulation of malondialdeyde, as a biomarker of oxidative stress in cells Enhanced antioxidative capacity 	Sun et al. (2010)
Salinity	Melon (<i>Cucumis melo</i> L.)	Pot experiment	 Increased plant fresh weight, chlorophyll content and reduced the electrolyte leakage under severe salt stress Higher relative water content under moderate and severe salt stress Increased proline content by 25.2% under 200 mM NaCl treatment 	Hassani et al. (2019)
	Tomato (Solanum lycopersicum L.)	Pot experiment	 Improved root branching, fresh and dry weight of salt-stressed plants Increased levels of chlorophyll b, indole acetic acid, catalase and superoxide dismutase in leaves Reduced abscisic acid and proline levels 	Abdelaziz et al. (2019)
	Maize (Zea mays L.)	Pot experiment	- Higher biomass, higher stomatal conductance, lower $K^{\rm +}$ efflux from roots and higher $K^{\rm +}$ concentration in shoots	Yun et al. (2018)
	Medicago truncatula	Pot experiment	 Improved plant growth under severe saline condition Higher antioxidant enzymes activities and hyphae density in roots under high salt concentration Reduced malondialdehyde activity, Na⁺ content and relative electrolyte conductivity 	Li et al. (2017)
	Barley (Hordeum vulgare L.)	Pot experiment	 Increased total shoot dry weight by 1.5-fold in 300 mM NaCl treatment Changes in carbohydrate metabolism, nitrogen metabolism, and ethylene biosynthesis pathway 	Ghaffari et al. (2016)

increased from 464 (under no stress condition) to 1337 and 2037 after 6 and 12 h exposures to drought stress induced by polyethylene glycol 6000 (PEG-6000), respectively. Their results suggested that endophytic fungus stimulated genes for hormone functions, including those responsible for the production of IAA, ABA, SA and CK. As a result, *S. indica* promotes plant functioning under drought stress. In addition, Sun et al. (2010) stated that the reprograming of drought-related genes such as DREB2A, ANAC072, and CBL1 in addition to RD29A in the leaves of *S. indica*-colonized plants, is responsible for plant survival under drought stress condition.

Higher antioxidant capacity and accumulation of secondary metabolites in *S. indica*-inoculated plants protect them against the detrimental effects of drought stress. Xu et al. (2016) pointed out that maize plants exposed to PEG-6000-induced drought stress had greater SOD and CAT activities and higher proline accumulation. They concluded that elevated ROS scavenging system was a reason for the observed better survival of maize after inoculation with *S. indica*. In contrast, Hosseini et al. (2017a, 2018) observed that *S. indica* inoculation markedly lowered the APX (i.e., 2.7-fold) and CAT (i.e., 2.1-fold) in maize and wheat plants under severe drought stress, respectively. They concluded that *S. indica*-inoculated plants had higher proline concentration rather than non-inoculated counterparts. As a result, the inoculated plants had more ability to perform osmotic adjustment and eventually, to overcome harmful effects of drought stress and tolerate lower oxidative damage than non-inoculated ones. Therefore, the activities of antioxidant enzymes decreased in *S. indica* host plants.

Salinity: The promoting effects of *S. indica* endophytic fungus on plant resistance to salt stress, are well documented (Table 4). In the majority of cases, reprograming of salt stress-related genes, elevated enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidant capacities, reduced membrane electrolyte leakage and promoted osmotic adjustment are the three main mechanisms for salt tolerance (Baltruschat et al., 2008; Khalvandi et al., 2019; Lanza et al., 2019). Abdelaziz et al. (2019) reported that *S. indica* reduced Na⁺/K⁺ ratios by increasing K⁺ concentration in the tomato leaves and roots of colonized plants under salt stress. They also observed that colonization of roots by *S. indica* increased antioxidant enzymatic activity and expression of LeNHX1–4 genes of tomato leaves. As a result, *S. indica*-inoculated plants had better functioning and growth (Table 4). Kord et al. (2019) investigated the impact of *S. indica* inoculation on regulation of small RNA (sRNA) molecules including microRNAs (miRNAs) which play important roles in eukaryotic gene expression and plant adaption to environmental stresses

as documented by Brant and Budak (2018). According to results of sRNAseq analysis, they identified 193 target genes in inoculated rice plants, which most of them were responsible for encoding either genes or transcription factors involved in nutrient uptake, sodium ion transporters, growth regulators, and auxin-responsive proteins.

Mineral stress: Acquisition of P, as the second most important macronutrients for plant growth and development, is one of the major features of symbiotic host plant-*S. indica* interactions (Jisha et al., 2019; Ngwene et al., 2016; Wu et al., 2018). However, the positive effects of *S. indica* on mobilization, extraction and acquisition of other essential elements such as N, Mg, S, Zn and Fe are proven (Johnson et al., 2014).

Phosphorous is absorbed by plants either directly through diffusion and interception mechanisms or indirectly through endophytic/mycorrhizal associations. S. indica fungus is able to produce phosphatase enzymes and organic acids which contribute to solubilization and mobilization of phosphate from insoluble polyphosphates and organic phosphates (Johnson et al., 2014). Jisha et al. (2019) examined the effect of S. indica inoculation on Centella asiatica (L.) under phosphate limitation, and reported that S. indica-colonized plants had better growth parameters and higher production of asiaticoside (a major neutraceutical secondary metabolite) at low P concentrations. They concluded that S. indica infestation increased plant tolerance against phosphate limitation due to higher acid/alkaline phosphatase activity, enhanced total phenolic content, increased SOD activity and higher level of IAA. Wu et al. (2018) stated that S. indica-inoculated Brassicae napus plants had greater capability to take up P from different sources because of higher phosphatase activities and higher organic acids (i.e., oxalic, malic and citric acids) in rhizosphere soil. They observed higher expression of the BnPht1; 4 and BnACP5 genes in inoculated roots under P limitation conditions which demonstrates the involvement of the fungus in mitigating P deficiency by promoting its uptake.

Magnesium is another essential macronutrient required for the chlorophyll formation and photosynthesis. *S. indica* plays crucial role in the Mg acquisition from soil and supports the plant growth under Mg deficiency conditions (Johnson et al., 2014; Prasad et al., 2019). Phylogenetic analysis revealed that PiMgT1, a member of Mg transporters family, is actively involved in Mg uptake by the *S. indica* fungus and may be helping in the nutritional status of the host plant particularly under Mg-limited conditions (Prasad et al., 2019). In the case of sulfur (S), Nongbri and Oelmüller (2013) comprehensively reviewed the role of *S. indica* in S metabolism and assimilation. Summarily, they stated that *S. indica* fungus targeted genes involved in S uptake and metabolism and signals from the fungus activate processes in the roots which strongly promoted the S acquisition especially under S deficiency conditions.

In contrary to essential micronutrients and macronutrients, excess levels of some heavy metals such as cadmium (Cd), lead (Pb), copper (Cu) and arsenic (As) are poisonous for plants and cause oxidative stress which consequently leads to lipid peroxidation, and DNA and protein damage. Several studies have confirmed that S. indica-plant symbiotic relations are an excellent system for mitigating adverse consequences of heavy metals stress (Hui et al., 2015; Johnson et al., 2014; Sartipnia et al., 2013). Nanda and Agrawal (2018) observed higher Cu accumulation in roots, elevated enzymatic antioxidant activities (SOD, CAT, APX, and GPX) and reduced lipid peroxidation and hydrogen peroxide with S. indica under Cu stress conditions. Similarly, Dabral et al. (2019) suggested that S. indica inoculation decreased cell death and ROS accumulation in rice plant roots as compare with non-inoculated roots under Cd stress. Their results revealed that significantly greater accumulation of Cd in fungal spores could diminish ROS accumulation in root cells leading to lower cell death. Mohd et al. (2017) suggested that S. indica inoculation increased rice tolerance against arsenic toxicity due to three different mechanisms including reducing the availability of free arsenic in the plant environment, bio-transformation of the toxic arsenic salts into insoluble particulate matter and modulating the antioxidative system of the host cell.

Extreme temperatures: Although *S. indica* was originally isolated from the rhizosphere of xerophytes growing in a hot desert area, but it has ability to endure both the extreme cold and hot conditions (Varma et al., 2014). There is little information about the effect of *S. indica* inoculation on plant tolerance against both heat and cold stresses. The cold tolerance was demonstrated by an experiment in the cold deserts of Leh-Ladakh (Varma et al., 2014). Interestingly, RNA-Seq analysis of soybean root tissue showed that *S. indica* inoculation led to down-regulation of heat shock and other proteins involved in heat, high light, and hydrogen peroxide stress tolerance (Bajaj et al., 2018; Lahrmann et al., 2013). It can be concluded that *S. indica* may reduce the deleterious effects of abiotic stressors using other mechanisms and thus do not need to up-regulate heat shock proteins (Bajaj et al., 2018). However, the exact mechanisms are not understood and should be investigated in future studies.

2.2.3 Combined stresses

As mentioned in the previous section, plants respond differently when they are exposed to combination of stressors rather than to individual ones. Hosseini et al. (2018) examined maize morphological and physiological responses as affected by S. indica inoculation under individual and combined drought and mechanical resistance stresses. Under exposure to individual stress, drought had more destructive impacts on plant water status and growth parameters rather than individual mechanical stress. However, under combined drought and mechanical stresses conditions, mechanical stress played the dominant role in controlling plant responses. The S. indica inoculation protected plants against both individual and combined stresses so that the inoculated plants had greater root volume (RV), leaf area (LA), RWC, LWP and proline content compared to the non-inoculated plants under stressful conditions. The same results were observed for S. indica-inoculated wheat plants under individual and combined drought and mechanical stresses Hosseini et al., (2017a). Fig. 3 schematically shows the beneficial effects of S. indica inoculation on host plant resistance against biotic and abiotic stresses.

3. The effects of endophytic fungi on soil quality indicators

The complex relations between plants and endophytic symbionts can significantly affect soil ecosystem characteristics and functions. It is proven that the symbiotic interaction of foliar and root endophytic fungi with host plants influences belowground biogeochemical reactions controlling nutrient cycling and soil organic matter dynamics. These processes play key roles in the productivity and function of both natural ecosystems and agroecosystems (Compant et al., 2016). Moreover, the endophytic symbiosis such as *Epichloë*-grass relations has long-term and constitutive nature which makes it suitable for ecosystem studies of plant-microbe interactions and their consequences on ecological processes (Slaughter, 2016). Omacini et al. (2012) conducted a meta-analysis to study the available information on the effects of endophytes on soil. Their comprehensive and quantitative study indicated that there were significant variations in root biomass, root exudates, and AMF colonization of infected plants compared to the endophyte-free counterparts, suggesting that these foliar endophytes can alter the host plant rhizosphere by multiple pathways. Here we aim to



Fig. 3 Underlying mechanisms of host tolerance to biotic and abiotic stresses mediated by *S. indica*. Fungi confer plant tolerance to abiotic stresses [i.e., drought, salinity, mineral (nutrients deficiency and toxicity of heavy metals) and temperature extremes] mainly through production of phytohormones, activation of antioxidants to metabolize ROS, reprogramming of stress-related genes and osmotic adjustment. Additionally, *S. indica*-inoculated plants benefit from up-regulation of pathogenesis-related genes, enhanced enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidant capacity, production of antimicrobial compounds and JA and SA signaling against biotic stresses. ABA, abscisic acid; ROS, reactive oxygen species; IAA, indole acetic acid; JA, jasmonic acid; SA, salicylic acid and CK, cytokinin.

review some representative researches which have studied the effect of endophyte-plant symbiosis on different aspects of soil environment and the underlying mechanisms for these alterations over the past 20 years.

3.1 Soil biological indicators

Changing in the composition of soil microbial communities and soil microbial respiration in the presence of foliar endophytic fungi are established in a limited number of publications (Buyer et al., 2011; Rojas et al., 2016). There are a number of contradictions about the effects of fungal endophyte presence on soil microbial parameters (Iqbal et al., 2012). For instance, lower soil microbial activity and consumption of certain substrates, lower abundance of gram-positive bacteria, AMF and other microbial groups have been reported in the rhizosphere of endophyte-infected tall fescue (Buyer et al., 2011). In contrast, some studies have reported stimulatory effects of endophyte-infected tall fescue or no change on soil microbial community composition (Iqbal et al., 2012). Slaughter et al. (2019) stated that Epichloë-grass relations had no significant effect on total AMF colonization; however, altered AMF arbuscule presence and extraradical hyphal length in soil were observed under different grass-endophyte combinations. The CTE45 genotype hosted the fewest AMF arbuscules regardless of endophyte presence, and endophyte-infected (E⁺) clones within NTE19 supported significantly greater soil extraradical hyphae compared to endophyte-free (E^{-}) clones. Because AMF are often associated with improved soil physical characteristics and C sequestration, our results suggest that development and use of unique grass-endophyte combinations may cause divergent effects on long-term ecosystem properties. Rojas et al. (2016) investigated the effect of the *E. coenophiala*, on the biomass and structure of soil bacterial, archaeal and fungal communities in both rhizosphere and bulk soils associated with tall fescue plants. Their results showed that E. coenophiala infection altered soil fungi composition by increasing phylum Glomeromycota and reducing phylum Ascomycota and other fungal genera. However, soil prokaryotic (bacterial and archaeal) communities were not significantly affected by the presence of foliar endophytic fungi.

In addition to soil microbial communities, *E. coenophiala* symbiosis in tall fescue may impact soil macro- and micro-fauna communities, too (Omacini et al., 2012). Increased number of earthworms (Humphries et al., 2001), decreased abundance of root-knot nematodes (Elmi et al., 2000) and altered community composition of springtail species (Lemons et al., 2005) have

been reported in response to foliar endophyte infection. Rabiey et al. (2017) observed that *S. indica* presence in both wheat root and soil samples led to detectable variations in the microbial community composition and increased diversity in the fungal and bacterial communities.

A few studies have examined the effects of endophyte-infected host plants on soil microbial biomass and activities. Iqbal et al. (2012) observed higher total microbial biomass in endophyte-infected tall fescue plots in comparison with endophyte-free counterparts. Nevertheless, Hosseini (2015) investigated the effects of endophyte-infected and endophyte-free tall fescue residues on soil organic carbon and basal microbial respiration in four texturally-different soils. She observed that endophyte-infected residues increased soil organic carbon storage and decreased microbial respiration in different soils. Similarly, Handayani et al. (2011) and Franzluebbers and Hill (2005) reported lower microbial respiration in pastures with high *Epichloë* infection frequencies compared to areas with low endophyte occurrence.

The symbiotic interactions between host plant-endophyte can modify the microbial features of rhizosphere or even bulk soil in both direct and indirect pathways. Directly, endophyte-infected grasses produce and release some secondary metabolites like ergot and loline alkaloids and phenolic compounds (Yan et al., 2015). In a great portion of studies, secreting of these compounds to rhizosphere is responsible for reduced microbial biomass and activities (Mikola et al., 2016; Omacini et al., 2012). Indirectly, endophyte presence can contribute to changing of soil structure and functioning of soil microbial communities through improved plant growth and nutrient status (Guo et al., 2016). An increase in root biomass and exudates and also enhanced soil fertility as a result of endophyte infection, may affect qualitative and quantitative characteristics of microbial communities (Gundel et al., 2017; Hosseini, 2015). Moreover, changes in the amount and soil-toatmosphere fluxes of soil gases (i.e., O_2 and CO_2) may be associated with the alterations in the structure of soil microbial communities in grassland ecosystems (Iqbal et al., 2013).

3.2 Soil C and N cycling

Plant-microbe symbiotic interactions play crucial roles in natural and agroecosystems such as litter decomposition, soil aggregation and N cycling (Slaughter, 2016). *Epichloë*-mediated variations in plant rhizodeposition and soil microbial structure and functioning may lead to higher soil carbon

sequestration (Iqbal et al., 2012) and altered N dynamics in grasslands (Franzluebbers and Hill, 2005; Franzluebbers and Stuedemann, 2005). Several studies revealed that the grass-endophyte symbiosis had inhibitory effect on litter decomposition (Hosseini, 2015; Lemons et al., 2005; Omacini et al., 2012). These observations are often related to *Epichloë*-mediated alkaloids production which negatively affects decomposers. However, Gundel et al. (2017) stated that the presence of *Epichloë* endophytic fungus can be associated with higher decomposition rate of plant litter. They also observed lower N and P contents in endophyte-infected *Schedonorus* (=*Festuca*) *pratensis* plant litter. They concluded that *Epichloë* infection could alter plant residues decomposition by several ecological pathways rather than production of toxic alkaloids. These ways included changing of plant leaf chemical composition or modifying the structure of the plant community and microclimate (Gundel et al., 2017).

Soil organic carbon (SOC), a key factor in preserving soil quality and health, indicates the sustainability of soil resources exposed to different land management practices. Although the benefits of endophyte infection to host grasses are well documented, limited studies have investigated the effect of plant-microbe interaction especially endophytic symbiosis on soil quality, particularly organic matter accumulation and dynamics. Hosseini et al. (2015a) examined the effects of foliar fungal endophyte infection in tall fescue on rhizosphere chemical, biological, and hydraulic properties in different soil textures. The results showed that Epichloë endophytic fungus significantly enhanced soil organic carbon storage and hot-water soluble carbohydrates (HWSC), especially for the medium- to fine-textured soils, and decreased the basal soil respiration. Likewise, Handayani et al. (2011) tested how *Epichloë* infection altered active soil C pools such as particulate organic matter C (POM-C), microbial biomass C (MBC), mineralizable C (Min-C), and C content in macro-aggregates and micro-aggregates. They observed that endophyte presence effectively increased MBC $(\approx 26\%)$ and percent of micro-aggregates $(\approx 46\%)$, and decreased Min-C $(\approx 43\%)$ and C associated with micro-aggregates ($\approx 15\%$). They concluded that Epichloë-infected tall fescue has potential to modify C sequestration and soil structure, particularly in short-time periods that can be used to examine conservation efforts to improve pasture productivity and the consequences of pasture restoration strategies.

As far as known, there is only one study which examined the effects of S. *indica* inoculation on SOC storages, so it yields a field ripe for research. Moballegh (2017) studied the effects of wheat and maize inoculation with *S. indica* and addition of its extract on soil structural stability indices and physicochemical properties. Her results indicated no significant difference between SOC of rhizosphere of *S. indica* inoculated and non-inoculated plants, however, the fungus extract addition effectively increased basal microbial respiration and consequently reduced SOC pool. She concluded that the fungus extract can be considered as a microbial substrate which would trigger microbial activities and then reduced SOC in the rhizosphere.

3.3 Soil aggregate stability

Aggregate stability, a representative index for resistance of soil structure against destructive physical stresses, is affected by plant-microbe interactions. The impact of *Epichloë*-grass symbiotic interactions on soil aggregate size distribution were investigated in previous studies (Franzluebbers and Stuedemann, 2005; Handayani et al., 2011). In a descriptive and comprehensive study, Hosseini et al. (2015a, 2015b and 2017b) examined the influences of *Epichloë* infection on soil aggregate stability in texturally-different soils via different methods. They quantified soil structure stability by high energy moisture characteristic (HEMC), as a novel and useful method for determining the structural stability of different soil textural types (Levy and Mamedov, 2002), and also by water dispersible clay (WDC), as a common method for evaluating aggregate instability.

In the HEMC method, an index of aggregate stability against slaking defined as stability ratio (SR) is determined by quantifying differences in water retention curves of fast- and slow-wetted aggregates (between 0.5 and 1.0 mm) at high energies (i.e. absolute matric potentials of 0 to $50 \,\mathrm{cm}$). The SR ranges from zero to one in which higher values indicate greater stability of soil aggregates. Moreover, Hosseini et al. (2015b) proposed the slope of HEMC at its inflection point (S_i) as an alternative structural stability index. This index is conceptually similar to Dexter's S-theory (Dexter, 2004). The value of S_i represents the extent of aggregate porosity which is concentrated into a narrow range of pore sizes. Higher values of S_i and also S_i R (i.e., the ratio of S_i values of fast- to slow-wetted aggregates) are consistent with improved aggregate stability. The results indicated that foliar endophyte presence (E. coenophiala) increased soil organic carbon (SOC) pools especially for the fine-textured soils. As a result, values of SR and $S_i R$ and structural stability of the tall fescue rhizosphere soils, particularly in medium- and fine-textured ones, significantly increased (Hosseini et al., 2015b). The same trend was observed when endophyte-infected tall fescue

residues were added to different soil textures (Hosseini et al., 2017b, 2017c). Evaluating of aggregate stability of rhizosphere soil using WDC also revealed that Epichloë-infected tall fescue rhizosphere had a lower WDC value when compared to the endophyte-free one. This means that endophyte-infected associated soils had greater structural stability due to higher concentration of HWSC and SOC storage (Hosseini et al., 2015a). Similarly, Moballegh (2017) reported lower WDC and greater HWSC upon addition of S. indica extract to soil. However, she found no significant effects of S. indica inoculation or its extract addition on HEMC stability indices of rhizosphere. Recently, Saedi et al. (2021a) studied the effect of endophyte-tall fescue symbiosis on the rhizosphere quality indicators under different aeration conditions in a greenhouse pot experiment. The results showed that soil structure degradation was intensified under oxygen-limited conditions. However, endophyte symbiosis increased the aggregate stability through the water-repellent exudates and enhanced organic carbon storage especially under oxygen-limited conditions.

3.4 Soil water repellency and hydraulic properties

Among the fungi, the role of AMF on soil hydrophobicity and hydraulic properties is commonly investigated (Rillig et al., 2010). A great number of these researches indicates an increase in soil water repellency and percentage of water-stable aggregates is linked with the production of glomalin by AMF (Rillig et al., 2010). However, there is little information about the impact of foliar and root endophytic fungi on these soil fundamental properties. For the first time, Hosseini (2015) and Hosseini et al. (2015a) investigated the effect of *Epichloë* endophytic fungus presence on water repellency and hydraulic properties of tall fescue rhizosphere soil. They hypothesized that the presence of *Epichloë* endophytic fungus in the aboveground parts of tall fescue can change the soil water repellency and aggregate stability by alteration of the chemical and biological properties of rhizospheric soil. They applied the intrinsic sorptivity method as suggested by Hallett and Young (1999). Summarily, in this method ethanol ($S_{\rm E}$) and water ($S_{\rm W}$) sorptivities, repellency index (RI) and contact angle (θ) are measured to characterize the soil hydrophobicity. The results revealed that endophyteinfected treatments had greater $S_{\rm E}$, RI and θ and lower $S_{\rm W}$ (Hosseini et al., 2015a). It can be concluded that the differences in the rhizosphere hydrophobicity and hydraulic properties of the endophyte-infected and endophyte-free plants may be due to changes in pore structure (quantified



Fig. 4 Schematic view of possible mechanisms in which foliar *Epichloë* of tall fescue affects the water repellency and aggregate stability of the rhizosphere. *Proposed by Hosseini, F., Mosaddeghi, M.R., Hajabbasi, M.A., Sabzalian, M.R., 2015a. Aboveground fungal endophyte infection in tall fescue alters rhizosphere chemical, biological, and hydraulic properties in texture–dependent ways. Plant Soil. 388, 351–366, with permission from Springer Nature.*

by S_E) and hydrophobic coatings (quantified by S_W), which are positively correlated with SOC storage. A conceptual schematic view was presented to show how and in which ways the foliar endophyte affects the water repellency and aggregate stability of the rhizosphere (Fig. 4). In accordance with their findings, Moballegh (2017) reported the highest value of RI in the rhizosphere of *S. indica*-inoculated plants. She suggested that the outer wall layer of the fungal hyphae consists mainly of polysaccharides or some hydrophobic proteins (Varma et al., 2007) which resulted in higher water repellency in the associated soils.

Soil hydraulic properties including water content at permanent wilting point (θ_{PWP}), absolute matric potential at PWP (h_{PWP}), plant available water (PAW) and its corresponded integral energy (E_{I-PAW}) were affected by *Epichloë*-grass symbiotic interactions (Hosseini et al., 2016). The $E_{\rm I}$ concept is applied to quantify the energy required for plants to take up a unit mass of water at a certain water content range (i.e., PAW range). Practically, it is calculated by integration of soil water retention curve over the PAW range. Lower value of $E_{\rm I}$ indicates that plants can easily take up water from the soil. These results showed that h_{PWP} of tall fescue is remarkably greater than the conventional value (i.e., 15,000 hPa) and its mean value was greater in endophyte-infected plant associated soils ($\approx 27,572$ hPa) compared to endophyte-free ones (\approx 21,780 hPa). This means that endophyte-infected plants had more ability to take up water at higher h values under similar conditions presumably due to induced drought-tolerance mechanisms (see Section 2.1.2). Moreover, endophyte-infected treatments, especially in the coarse- and medium-textured soils, had higher PAW and lower E_{I} , indicating that for similar PAW values, the host plant requires lower energy to take up a unit mass of water from the PAW range because endophyte presence can facilitate soil water release path in this range by increasing SOC and improving soil structural stability (Hosseini et al., 2016). In a separate lab study, it was examined whether addition of endophyte-infected tall fescue residues had considerable effects on different soil available water (SAW) quantities including PAW, least limiting water range (LLWR) and integral water capacity (IWC) and their corresponded integral energies [i.e., E_{I-PAW}, E_{I-LLWR}, E_{I-IWC}] in four texturally-different soils (Hosseini, 2015). Although endophyte presence had no significant effect on the SAW quantities, their corresponding integral energies except for E_{I-IWC} , significantly increased by addition of endophyte-infected residues. This finding is interpreted as follows: the presence of *Epichloë* reduced soil penetration resistance in the dry range by increasing SOC and improving soil physical quality, and as a result, host plant is able to take up water in a wider range of soil water content, and integration over a broader soil water content range resulted in greater values of $E_{\rm I}$.

3.5 Soil mechanical properties

Drought, extreme temperatures, poor aeration and high penetration resistance are four main physical limitations for root development and plant growth. Among these physical constrains, high soil mechanical impedance is very important especially in dry environments because decreasing water content dramatically increases soil penetration resistance which is simultaneous with severely reduced root development and impaired plant functioning (Bengough et al., 2011). Despite the importance of soil penetration resistance on root system extension, few studies have investigated the impact of plant-endophyte symbiosis on soil mechanical properties and host responses to mechanical stress.

The probable effects of endophyte presence on modifying soil mechanical properties were studied by Hosseini (2015). She examined the effects of endophyte-infected and endophyte-free tall fescue residues on mechanical properties of texturally-different soils. Addition of endophyte-infected residues significantly lowered soil penetration resistance especially in the dry range (i.e., absolute matric potentials higher than 8000 hPa). An increase in SOC and greater aggregate stability (i.e., lower WDC content) in endophyte presence treatments, were possible reasons for reduced penetration resistance and increased soil physical quality especially in dry conditions (Hosseini, 2015).

Maximum axial root growth pressure (σ_{max}) is a quantity to identify plant root ability to penetrate into hard soils (Materechera et al., 1992). The extent of $\sigma_{\rm max}$ is controlled by internal (i.e., osmotic potential, cell wall extensibility and cell wall pressure) and external (i.e., soil matric potential, penetration resistance and temperature) conditions (Greacen and Oh, 1972). As endophyte-host interaction has considerable effect on plant responses to stressful conditions, Hosseini et al. (2019) hypothesized that S. indica may be effective on the $\sigma_{\rm max}$ and root penetration ability into hard soils, especially under drought stress conditions. For the measurement of $\sigma_{\rm max}$, the maximum axial force (F_{max}) exerted by the S. indica-inoculated and non-inoculated roots of maize seedlings were measured under control and PEG-induced water stress conditions. After measuring root diameter (d), σ_{max} was calculated by dividing the F_{max} by the corresponding root cross-sectional area. Interestingly, the results showed that S. indica inoculation exerted a temporary stress on root growth leading to greater lag time (T_{lag}) for force development and the time to reach F_{max} (T_{max}) in inoculated plants. Greater values of T_{lag} and T_{max} in the inoculated plants can be attributed to destruction and decomposition of the cell wall of root cells by fungal enzymes (Kost and Rexer, 2013) and consuming a portion of the host cellular energy for development of compatibility with the fungus presence in the root. However, the establishment of a symbiotic relationship between maize roots and S. indica resulted in greater F_{max} and σ_{max} especially under moderate and severe water stresses. It means that S. indica inoculation can

moderate adverse impacts of stressful conditions on growth and elongation of plant roots especially during the initial growth stages by improving osmotic adjustment and/or by altering cell wall properties. Further studied are recommended for identifying the exact mechanisms.

4. Concluding remarks and future prospects

The advantages of both foliar and root endophytic fungi (Epichloë spp. and S. indica) for host plants are predominantly observed under harsh environmental conditions. Endophyte can improve mineral nutrition, biotic and abiotic stress tolerance and competitive ability of host plants in comparison with endophyte-free counterparts. This leads to better functioning and productivity in both natural ecosystems and agroecosystems. Production of various secondary metabolites including alkaloids, antibacterial and fungicide compounds, better osmotic adjustment, up-regulation of stress-related genes, enhanced antioxidant capacities for ROS scavenging and modifying phytohormones are the most important induced mechanisms applying by the endophyte-infected plants to cope with stressors. Although most of studies are focusing on drought and mineral stresses, the outcome of endophyte infection against some individual and combined stressors like water-logged conditions, extreme temperatures and high soil mechanical resistance in ecosystems has been scarcely considered. However, under global changing climate, gathering information and gaining knowledge regarding the plantmicrobe feedbacks to these stressors are totally necessary.

The recent information derived from studies in the last two decades are useful to realize the utility of plant-endophytic fungi interaction in sustainable agriculture production. Plant-endophyte interactions may have the capability to reduce the need for application of pesticides, chemical fertilizers, help weed management, phytoremediation, and desalinization of agricultural soils. However, the probable consequences of endophyte infection to engineer agroecosystems in these ways remain to be explored. Moreover, most studies during the last decades have been performed under controlled greenhouse conditions. Nonetheless, plant-fungi feedbacks may be different under natural field conditions. Therefore, it is recommended to investigate the potential effects of endophyte infection on plant performance under field conditions.

Several lines of research have revealed that both foliar and root endophyte infections have enormous consequences on the belowground processes such as microbial community composition and functions, litter decomposition, carbon sequestration and nutrient cycling, and different aspects of soil quality and health. Generally, endophyte infection improved soil physicochemical quality by increasing SOC storage, structural stability and facilitating of water and nutrient release pathways. However, this field of study is an area of attention and further investigations should be performed to clear underlying processes and mechanisms in molecular and cellular levels.

References

- Abdelaziz, M.E., Abdelsattar, M., Abdeldaym, E.A., Atia, M.A., Mahmoud, A.W.M., Saad, M.M., Hirt, H., 2019. *Piriformospora indica* alters Na⁺/K⁺ homeostasis, antioxidant enzymes and LeNHX1 expression of greenhouse tomato grown under salt stress. Sci. Hortic. 256, 1–8.
- Adams, A.E., Kazenel, M.R., Rudgers, J.A., 2017. Does a foliar endophyte improve plant fitness under flooding? Plant Ecol. 218, 711–723.
- Ansari, M.W., Trivedi, D.K., Sahoo, R.K., Gill, S.S., Tuteja, N., 2013. A critical review on fungi mediated plant responses with special emphasis to *Piriformospora indica* on improved production and protection of crops. Plant Physiol. Biochem. 70, 403–410.
- Arnold, A.E., Lutzoni, F., 2007. Diversity and host range of foliar fungal endophytes: are tropical leaves biodiversity hotspots? Ecology 88, 541–549.
- Arrieta, A.M., Iannone, L.J., Scervino, J.M., Vignale, M.V., Novas, M.V., 2015. A foliar endophyte increases the diversity of phosphorus–solubilizing rhizospheric fungi and mycorrhizal colonization in the wild grass *Bromus auleticus*. Fungal Ecol. 17, 146–154.
- Bajaj, R., Hu, W., Huang, Y., Chen, S., Prasad, R., Varma, A., Bushley, K.E., 2015. The beneficial root endophyte *Piriformospora indica* reduces egg density of the soybean cyst nematode. Biol. Control 90, 193–199.
- Bajaj, R., Huang, Y., Gebrechristos, S., Mikolajczyk, B., Brown, H., Prasad, R., Varma, A., Bushley, K.E., 2018. Transcriptional responses of soybean roots to colonization with the root endophytic fungus *Piriformospora indica* reveals altered phenylpropanoid and secondary metabolism. Sci. Rep. 8, 1–18.
- Ballaré, C.L., 2014. Light regulation of plant defense. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 65, 335–363.
- Ballaré, C.L., Mazza, C.A., Austin, A.T., Pierik, R., 2012. Canopy light and plant health. Plant Physiol. 160, 145–155.
- Baltruschat, H., Fodor, J., Harrach, B.D., Niemczyk, E., Barna, B., Gullner, G., 2008. Salt tolerance of barley induced by the root endophyte *Piriformospora indica* is associated with a strong increase in antioxidants. New Phytol. 180, 501–510.
- Bashiri, F., Ahmadi, R., Khezri, S.M., 2015. Remove soil contaminants by heat treatment. Int. J. Fundam. Arts. Archit. 1, 8–12.
- Bastias, D.A., Martínez-Ghersa, M.A., Ballaré, C.L., Gundel, P.E., 2017. *Epichloë* fungal endophytes and plant defenses: not just alkaloids. Trends Plant Sci. 22, 939–948.
- Bayat, F., Mirlohi, A.F., Khodambashi, M., 2009. Effects of endophytic fungi on some drought tolerance mechanisms of tall fescue in a hydroponics culture. Russ. J. Plant Physiol. 56, 510–516.
- Bengough, A.G., McKenzie, B.M., Hallett, P.D., Valentine, T.A., 2011. Root elongation, water stress, and mechanical impedance: a review of limiting stresses and beneficial root tip traits. J. Exp. Bot. 1, 59–68.
- Brant, E.J., Budak, H., 2018. Plant small non–coding RNAs and their roles in biotic stresses. Front. Plant Sci. 9, 1–9.

- Briggs, L., Crush, J., Ouyang, L., Sprosen, J., 2013. Neotyphodium endophyte strain and superoxide dismutase activity in perennial ryegrass plants under water deficit. Acta Physiol. Plant. 35, 1513–1520.
- Bu, Y., Guo, P., Ji, Y., Zhang, S., Yu, H., Wang, Z., 2019. Effects of *Epichloë sinica* on *Roegneria kamoji* seedling physiology under PEG–6000 simulated drought stress. Symbiosis 77, 123–132.
- Bultman, T.L., Bell, G.D., 2003. Interaction between fungal endophytes and environmental stressors influences plant resistance to insects. Oikos 103, 182–190.
- Buyer, J.S., Zuberer, D.A., Nichols, K.A., Franzluebbers, A.J., 2011. Soil microbial community function, structure, and glomalin in response to tall fescue endophyte infection. Plant Soil 339, 401–412.
- Camehl, I., Oelmüller, R., 2010. Do ethylene response factors-9 and -14 repress PR gene expression in the interaction between Piriformospora indica and Arabidopsis? Plant Signal. Behav. 5, 932–936.
- Card, S.D., Rolston, M.P., Lloyd-West, C., Hume, D.E., 2014. Novel perennial ryegrass– *Neotyphodium* endophyte associations: relationships between seed weight, seedling vigor and endophyte presence. Symbiosis 62, 51–62.
- Carson, R.D., West, C.P., Reyes, B.D.L., Rajguru, S., Guerber, C.A., 2004. Endophyte effects on dehydrin protein expression and membrane leakage in tall fescue. In: Kallenbach, R., Rosenkrans, C.T., Ryan, L. (Eds.), 5th International Symposium on Neotyphodium/Grass Interactions. University of Arkansas, Fayetteville, AR. Abstract # 202.
- Casula, G., Cutting, S.M., 2002. *Bacillus* probiotics: spore germination in the gastrointestinal tract. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 68, 2344–2352.
- Chen, N., He, R., Chai, Q., Li, C., Nan, Z., 2016. Transcriptomic analyses giving insights into molecular regulation mechanisms involved in cold tolerance by *Epichloe* endophyte in seed germination of *Achnatherum inebrians*. Plant Growth Regul. 80, 367–375.
- Chen, S., Chen, T., Yao, X., Lv, H., Li, C., 2018a. Physicochemical properties of an asexual *Epichloë* endophyte–modified wild barley in the presence of salt stress. Pak. J. Bot. 50, 2105–2111.
- Chen, T., Johnson, R., Chen, S., Lv, H., Zhou, J., Li, C., 2018b. Infection by the fungal endophyte *Epichloë bromicola* enhances the tolerance of wild barley (*Hordeum brevisubulatum*) to salt and alkali stresses. Plant Soil 428, 353–370.
- Cheng, C., Li, D., Qi, Q., Sun, X., Anue, M.R., David, B.M., Zhang, Y., Hao, X., Zhang, Z., Lai, Z., 2019. The root endophytic fungus *Serendipita indica* improves resistance of Banana to *Fusarium oxysporum* f. sp. cubense tropical race 4. Eur. J. Plant Pathol. 156, 1–14.
- Christensen, M.J., Bennett, R.J., Ansari, H.A., Koga, H., Johnson, R.D., Bryan, G.T., Voisey, C.R., 2008. *Epichloë* endophytes grow by intercalary hyphal extension in elongating grass leaves. Fungal Genet. Biol. 45, 84–93.
- Clay, K., Schardl, C., 2002. Evolutionary origins and ecological consequences of endophyte symbiosis with grasses. Am. Nat. 160, 99–127.
- Clement, S.L., Elberson, L.R., 2010. Variable effects of grass-Neotyphodium associations on cereal leaf beetle (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae) feeding, development and survival. J. Entomol. Sci. 45, 197–203.
- Clement, S.L., Elberson, L.R., Bosque-Pérez, N.A., Schotzko, D.J., 2005. Detrimental and neutral effects of wild barley-*Neotyphodium* fungal endophyte associations on insect survival. Entomol. Exp. Appl. 114, 119–125.
- Compant, S., Saikkonen, K., Mitter, B., Campisano, A., Blanco, J.M., 2016. Soil, plants and endophytes. Plant Soil 405, 1–11.

- Cosme, M., Lu, J., Erb, M., Stout, M.J., Franken, P., Wurst, S., 2016. A fungal endophyte helps plants to tolerate root herbivory through changes in gibberellin and jasmonate signaling. New Phytol. 211, 1065–1076.
- Dabral, S., Varma, A., Choudhary, D.K., Bahuguna, R.N., Nath, M., 2019. Biopriming with *Piriformospora indica* ameliorates cadmium stress in rice by lowering oxidative stress and cell death in root cells. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 186, 1–12.
- Das, A., Kamal, S., Shakil, N.A., Sherameti, I., Oelmüller, R., Dua, M., Tuteja, N., Johri, A.K., Varma, A., 2012. The root endophyte fungus *Piriformospora indica* leads to early flowering, higher biomass and altered secondary metabolites of the medicinal plant, *Coleus forskohlii*. Plant Signal. Behav. 7, 103–112.
- Dastogeer, K.M., 2018. Influence of fungal endophytes on plant physiology is more pronounced under stress than well-watered conditions: a meta-analysis. Planta 248, 1403–1416.
- Dastogeer, K.M.G., Wylie, S.J., 2017. Plant–fungi association: role of fungal endophytes in improving plant tolerance to water stress. In: Singh, D.P., Singh, H.B., Prabha, R. (Eds.), Plant–Microbe Interactions in Agro–Ecological Perspectives. Fundamental Mechanisms, Methods and Functions, vol. 1. Springer, Singapore, pp. 143–159.
- De Bary, A., 1866. Morphologie und Physiologie der Pilze, Flechten, und Myxomyceten. In: Hofmeister's Handbook of Physiological Botany. vol. 2. Leipzig, Engelmann.
- de Silva, E.D., Ratnaweera, P.B., Walgama, R.C., Jayasundera, K.U., Herath, S.D., Abira, S.A., Williams, D.E., Andersen, R.J., 2018. Antibacterial activities of endophytic fungi isolated from six Sri Lankan plants of the family *Cyperaceae*. Bangladesh J. Pharmacol. 13, 264–272.
- Dehghanpour-Farashah, S., Taheri, P., Falahati-Rastegar, M., 2019. Effect of polyamines and nitric oxide in *Piriformospora indica*-induced resistance and basal immunity of wheat against *Fusarium pseudograminearum*. Biol. Control 136, 1–14.
- Deng, Z., Cao, L., 2017. Fungal endophytes and their interactions with plants in phytoremediation: a review. Chemosphere 168, 1100–1106.
- Deshmukh, S.D., Kogel, K.H., 2007. Piriformospora indica protects barley from root rot caused by Fusarium graminearum. J. Plant Dis. Prot. 114, 263–268.
- Deshmukh, S., Hückelhoven, R., Schäfer, P., Imani, J., Sharma, M., Weiss, M., Waller, F., Kogel, K.H., 2006. The root endophytic fungus *Piriformospora indica* requires host cell death for proliferation during mutualistic symbiosis with barley. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 49, 18450–18457.
- Dexter, A.R., 2004. Soil physical quality; Part I. Theory, effects of soil texture, density, and organic matter, and effects on root growth. Geoderma 120, 201–214.
- Dupont, P.Y., Eaton, C.J., Wargent, J.J., Fechtner, S., Solomon, P., Schmid, J., Day, R.C., Scott, B., Cox, M.P., 2015. Fungal endophyte infection of ryegrass reprograms host metabolism and alters development. New Phytol. 208, 1227–1240.
- Elmi, A.A., West, C.P., Robbins, R.T., Kirkpatrick, T.L., 2000. Endophyte effects on reproduction of a root-knot nematode (*Meloidogyne marylandi*) and osmotic adjustment in tall fescue. Grass Forage Sci. 55, 166–172.
- Fakhro, A., Andrade-Linares, D.R., von Bargen, S., Bandte, M., Büttner, C., Grosch, R., Schwarz, D., Franken, P., 2010. Impact of *Piriformospora indica* on tomato growth and on interaction with fungal and viral pathogens. Mycorrhiza 20, 191–200.
- Franzluebbers, A.J., Hill, N.S., 2005. Soil carbon, nitrogen, and ergot alkaloids with short– and long–term exposure to endophyte–infected and endophyte–free tall fescue. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 69, 404–412.
- Franzluebbers, A.J., Stuedemann, J.A., 2005. Soil carbon and nitrogen pools in response to tall fescue endophyte infection, fertilization, and cultivar. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 69, 396–403.

- Fuchs, B., Krauss, J., 2019. Can *Epichloë* endophytes enhance direct and indirect plant defense? Fungal Ecol. 38, 98–103.
- Ghaffari, M.R., Ghabooli, M., Khatabi, B., Hajirezaei, M.R., Schweizer, P., Salekdeh, G.H., 2016. Metabolic and transcriptional response of central metabolism affected by root endophytic fungus *Piriformospora indica* under salinity in barley. Plant Mol. Biol. 90, 699–717.
- Ghaffari, M.R., Mirzaei, M., Ghabooli, M., Khatabi, B., Wu, Y., Zabet-Moghaddam, M., Mohammadi-Nejad, G., Haynes, P.A., Hajirezaei, M.R., Sepehri, M., Salekdeh, G.H., 2019. Root endophytic fungus *Piriformospora indica* improves drought stress adaptation in barley by metabolic and proteomic reprogramming. Environ. Exp. Bot. 157, 197–210.
- Ghannoum, O., Conroy, J.P., Driscoll, S.P., Paul, M.J., Foyer, C.H., Lawlor, D.W., 2003. Nonstomatal limitations are responsible for drought-induced photosynthetic inhibition in four C4 grasses. New Phytol. 159, 599–608.
- Gill, S.S., Gill, R., Trivedi, D.K., Anjum, N.A., Sharma, K.K., Ansari, M.W., Ansari, A.A., Johri, A.K., Prasad, R., Pereira, E., Varma, A., 2016. *Piriformospora indica*: potential and significance in plant stress tolerance. Front. Microbiol. 7, 1–20.
- Glazebrook, J., 2005. Contrasting mechanisms of defense against biotrophic and necrotrophic pathogens. Annu. Rev. Phytopathol. 43, 205–227.
- Gonthier, D.J., Sullivan, T.J., Brown, K.L., Wurtzel, B., Lawal, R., VandenOever, K., Buchan, Z., Bultman, T.L., 2008. Stroma-forming endophyte *Epichloë glyceriae* provides wound-inducible herbivore resistance to its grass host. Oikos 117, 629–633.
- Greacen, E.L., Oh, J.S., 1972. Physics of root growth. Nat. New Biol. 235, 24-25.
- Groppa, M.D., Benavides, M.P., 2008. Polyamines and abiotic stress: recent advances. Amino Acids 1, 35–45.
- Gunatilaka, A.A.L., 2006. Natural products from plant–associated microorganisms: distribution, structural diversity, bioactivity and applications of their occurrence. J. Nat. Prod. 69, 509–526.
- Gundel, P.E., Helander, M., Garibaldi, L.A., Vázquez-de-Aldana, B.R., Zabalgogeazcoa, I., Saikkonen, K., 2017. Direct and indirect effects of the fungal endophyte *Epichloe uncinatum* on litter decomposition of the host grass, *Schedonorus pratensis*. Plant Ecol. 218, 1107–1115.
- Guo, C.H., Li, X.Z., Liu, L., Cao, J.X., Li, C.J., 2016. Effect of the *Epichloë* endophyte on the soil nematode community in the rhizosphere of *Achnatherum inebrians*. Acta Pratacul. Sin. 25, 140–148.
- Hajipour, A., Sohani, M.M., Babaeizad, V., Hasani-Kumleh, H., 2015. The symbiotic effect of *Piriformospora indica* on induced resistance against bakanae disease in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). J. Plant Mol. Breed. 3, 11–19.
- Hallett, P.D., Young, I.M., 1999. Changes to water repellence of soil aggregates caused by substrate–induced microbial activity. Eur. J. Soil Sci. 50, 35–40.
- Handayani, I., Coyne, M., Phillips, T., 2011. Soil organic carbon fractions differ in two contrasting tall fescue systems. Plant Soil 338, 43–50.
- Harrach, B.D., Baltruschat, H., Barna, B., Fodor, J., Kogel, K.H., 2013. The mutualistic fungus *Piriformospora indica* protects barley roots from a loss of antioxidant capacity caused by the necrotrophic pathogen *Fusarium culmorum*. Mol. Plant Microbe Interact. 26, 599–605.
- Hassani, D., Khalid, M., Huang, D., Zhang, Y.D., 2019. Morphophysiological and molecular evidence supporting the augmentative role of *Piriformospora indica* in mitigation of salinity in *Cucumis melo* L. Acta Biochim. Biophys. Sin. 51, 301–312.
- Hernandez-Soriano, M., 2014. Environmental Risk Assessment of Soil Contamination. Institute of Technology, New York.
- Hosseini, F., 2015. Effect of Endophytic Fungus-Plant Symbiosis on Soil Water Availability and Physical Properties, and Plant Growth under Drought and Mechanical Stresses. PhD Thesis (in Farsi with English abstract), Isfahan University of Technology, Isfahan, Iran.

- Hosseini, F., Mosaddeghi, M.R., Hajabbasi, M.A., Sabzalian, M.R., 2015a. Aboveground fungal endophyte infection in tall fescue alters rhizosphere chemical, biological, and hydraulic properties in texture–dependent ways. Plant Soil 388, 351–366.
- Hosseini, F., Mosaddeghi, M.R., Hajabbasi, M.A., Sabzalian, M.R., 2015b. Influence of tall fescue endophyte infection on structural stability as quantified by high energy moisture characteristic in a range of soils. Geoderma 249, 87–99.
- Hosseini, F., Mosaddeghi, M.R., Hajabbasi, M.A., Sabzalian, M.R., 2016. Role of fungal endophyte of tall fescue (*Epichloë coenophiala*) on water availability, wilting point and integral energy in texturally–different soils. Agric Water Manag 163, 197–211.
- Hosseini, F., Mosaddeghi, M.R., Dexter, A.R., 2017a. Effect of the fungus *Piriformospora indica* on physiological characteristics and root morphology of wheat under combined drought and mechanical stresses. Plant Physiol. Biochem. 118, 107–120.
- Hosseini, F., Mosaddeghi, M.R., Hajabbasi, M.A., Mamedov, A.I., 2017b. Effects of endophyte–infected and non–infected tall fescue residues on aggregate stability in four texturally different soils. Geoderma 285, 195–205.
- Hosseini, F., Mosaddeghi, M.R., Hajabbasi, M.A., Sabzalian, M.R., Soleimani, M., Sepehri, M., 2017c. Effects of endophyte-infected (*Epichloë coenophaila*) tall fescue residues on water repellency and structural stability of texturally-different soils. J. Water Soil Sci. 21 (2), 69–82 (in Farsi with English abstract).
- Hosseini, F., Mosaddeghi, M.R., Dexter, A.R., Sepehri, M., 2018. Maize water status and physiological traits as affected by root endophytic fungus *Piriformospora indica* under combined drought and mechanical stresses. Planta 247, 1229–1245.
- Hosseini, F., Mosaddeghi, M.R., Dexter, A.R., Sepehri, M., 2019. Effect of endophytic fungus *Piriformospora indica* and PEG–induced water stress on maximum root growth pressure and elongation rate of maize. Plant Soil 435, 423–436.
- Huang, W.Y., Cai, Y.Z., Xing, J., Corke, H., Sun, M., 2007. A potential antioxidant resource: endophytic fungi from medicinal plants. Econ. Bot. 61, 14–30.
- Hui, F., Liu, J., Gao, Q., Lou, B., 2015. *Piriformospora indica* confers cadmium tolerance in *Nicotiana tabacum*. J. Environ. Sci. 37, 184–191.
- Hume, D.E., Ryan, G.D., Gibert, A., Helander, M., Mirlohi, A., Sabzalian, M.R., 2016. *Epichloë* fungal endophytes for grassland ecosystems. In: Lichtfouse, E. (Ed.), Sustainable Agriculture Reviews. Springer, Cham, pp. 233–305.
- Humphries, S.S., Gwinn, K.D., Stewart, A.J., 2001. Effects of endophyte status of tall fescue tissues on the earthworm (*Eisenia fetida*). Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 20, 1346–1350.
- Hussain, A.A., Men, S., Hussain, S., Chen, Y., Ali, S., Zhang, S., Zhang, K., Li, Y., Xu, Q., Liao, C., 2019. Interactive effects of drought and heat stresses on morphophysiological attributes, yield, nutrient uptake and oxidative status in maize hybrids. Sci. Rep. 9, 1–13.
- Iannone, L.J., Vignale, M.V., Pinget, A.D., Re, A., Mc Cargo, P.D., Novas, M.V., 2017. Seed–transmitted *Epichloë* sp. endophyte alleviates the negative effects of head smut of grasses (*Ustilago bullata*) on *Bromus auleticus*. Fungal Ecol. 29, 45–51.
- Ikram, M., Ali, N., Jan, G., Jan, F.G., Rahman, I.U., Iqbal, A., Hamayun, M., 2018. IAA producing fungal endophyte *Penicillium roqueforti* Thom., enhances stress tolerance and nutrients uptake in wheat plants grown on heavy metal contaminated soils. PLoS One 13, e0208150.
- Iqbal, J., Siegrist, J.A., Nelson, J.A., McCulley, R.L., 2012. Fungal endophyte infection increases carbon sequestration potential of southeastern USA tall fescue stands. Soil Biol. Biochem. 44, 81–92.
- Iqbal, J., Nelson, J.A., McCulley, R.L., 2013. Fungal endophyte presence and genotype affect plant diversity and soil-to-atmosphere trace gas fluxes. Plant Soil 364, 15–27.
- Jisha, S., Sabu, K.K., 2019. Multifunctional aspects of *Piriformospora indica* in plant endosymbiosis. Mycology 10, 1–11.

- Jisha, S., Anith, K.N., Sabu, K.K., 2019. The protective role of *Piriformospora indica* colonization in *Centella asiatica* L. in vitro under phosphate stress. Biocatal. Agric. Biotechnol. 19, 1–11.
- Johnson, L.J., Johnson, R.D., Schardl, C.L., Panaccione, D.G., 2003. Identification of differentially expressed genes in the mutualistic association of tall fescue with *Neotyphodium coenophialum*. Physiol. Mol. Plant Pathol. 63, 305–317.
- Johnson, J.M., Alex, T., Oelmüller, R., 2014. *Piriformospora indica*: the versatile and multifunctional root endophytic fungus for enhanced yield and tolerance to biotic and abiotic stress in crop plants. J. Trop. Agric. 52, 103–122.
- Jungk, A.O., 2002. Dynamics of nutrient movement at the soil–root interface. In: Waisel, Y., Eshel, A., Kafkafi, U. (Eds.), Plant Roots: The Hidden Half. CRC Press, pp. 455–481.
- Kannadan, S., Rudgers, J.A., 2008. Endophyte symbiosis benefits a rare grass under low water availability. Funct. Ecol. 22, 706–713.
- Kauppinen, M., Helander, M., Anttila, N., Saloniemi, I., Saikkonen, K., 2018. *Epichloë* endophyte effects on leaf blotch pathogen (*Rhynchosporium* sp.) of tall fescue (*Schedonorus phoenix*) vary among grass origin and environmental conditions. Plant Ecol. Divers. 11, 625–635.
- Khalvandi, M., Amerian, M., Pirdashti, H., Keramati, S., Hosseini, J., 2019. Essential oil of peppermint in symbiotic relationship with *Piriformospora indica* and methyl jasmonate application under saline condition. Ind. Crop Prod. 127, 195–202.
- Khare, E.K., Arora, N.K., 2015. Effects of soil environment on field efficacy of microbial inoculants. In: Arora, N.K. (Ed.), Plant Microbes Symbiosis: Applied Facets. Springer, Netherland, pp. 353–381.
- Khatabi, B., Molitor, A., Lindermayr, C., Pfiffi, S., Durner, J., Von Wettstein, D., Kogel, K.H., Schäfer, P., 2012. Ethylene supports colonization of plant roots by the mutualistic fungus *Piriformospora indica*. PLoS One 7, e35502.
- Khayamim, F., Khademi, H., Sabzalian, M.R., 2010. Effect of *Neotyphodium* endophyte–tall fescue symbiosis on mineralogical changes in clay–sized phlogopite and muscovite. Plant Soil 341, 473–484.
- Kord, H., Fakheri, B., Ghabooli, M., Solouki, M., Emamjomeh, A., Khatabi, B., Sepehri, M., Salekdeh, G.H., Ghaffari, M.R., 2019. Salinity–associated microRNAs and their potential roles in mediating salt tolerance in rice colonized by the endophytic root fungus *Piriformospora indica*. Funct. Integr. Genomics 19, 1–14.
- Kost, G., Rexer, K.H., 2013. Morphology and ultrastructure of *Piriformospora indica*. In: Varma (Ed.), *Piriformospora indica*. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 25–36.
- Kumar, V., Sahai, V., Bisaria, V.S., 2013. Effect of *Piriformospora indica* on enhanced biosynthesis of anticancer drug, podophyllotoxin in plant cell cultures of *Linum album*. In: Varma, A., Kost, G., Oelmuller, R. (Eds.), Sebacinales–Forms, Functions and Biotechnological Applications. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, pp. 119–137.
- Kusari, S., Hertweck, C., Spiteller, M., 2012. Chemical ecology of endophytic fungi: origins of secondary metabolites. Chem. Biol. 19, 792–798.
- Lahrmann, U., Ding, Y., Banhara, A., Rath, M., Hajirezaei, M.R., Döhlemann, S., 2013. Host–related metabolic cues affect colonization strategies of a root endophyte. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 110, 13965–13970.
- Lanza, M., Haro, R., Conchillo, L.B., Benito, B., 2019. The endophyte Serendipita indica reduces the sodium content of Arabidopsis plants exposed to salt stress: fungal ENA ATPases are expressed and regulated at high pH and during plant co-cultivation in salinity. Environ. Microbiol. 21, 3364–3378.
- Lemons, A., Clay, K., Rudgers, J.A., 2005. Connecting plant–microbial interactions above and belowground: a fungal endophyte affects decomposition. Oecologia 145, 595–604.

- Leuchtmann, A., Bacon, C.W., Schardl, C.L., White Jr., J.F., Tadych, M., 2014. Nomenclatural realignment of *Neotyphodium* species with genus *Epichloë*. Mycologia 106, 202–215.
- Levy, G.J., Mamedov, A.I., 2002. High-energy-moisture-characteristic aggregate stability as a predictor for seal formation. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 66, 1603–1609.
- Li, C.J., Gao, J.H., Ma, B., 2003. Seven diseases of drunken horse grass (Achnatherum inebrians) in China (in Chinese with English abstract). Pratacultural Sci. 20, 51–53.
- Li, T., Blande, J.D., Gundel, P.E., Helander, M., Saikkonen, K., 2014. *Epichloë* endophytes alter inducible indirect defenses in host grasses. PLoS One 9, e101331.
- Li, L., Li, L., Wang, X., Zhu, P., Wu, H., Qi, S., 2017. Plant growth–promoting endophyte *Piriformospora indica* alleviates salinity stress in *Medicago truncatula*. Plant Physiol. Biochem. 119, 211–223.
- Lin, H.F., Xiong, J., Zhou, H.M., Chen, C.M., Lin, F.Z., Xu, X.M., Oelmüller, R., Xu, W.F., Yeh, K.W., 2019. Growth promotion and disease resistance induced in *Anthurium* colonized by the beneficial root endophyte *Piriformospora indica*. BMC Plant Biol. 19, 1–10.
- Liu, H., Senthilkumar, R., Ma, G., Zou, Q., Zhu, K., Shen, X., Tian, D., Hua, M.S., Oelmuller, R., Yeh, K.W., 2019. *Piriformospora indica*–induced phytohormones changes and root colonization strategies are highly host–specific. Plant Signal. Behav. 14, 1–13.
- Malinowski, D.P., Belesky, D.P., 1999. *Neotyphodium coenophialum*-endophyte infection affects the ability of tall fescue to use sparingly available phosphorus. J. Plant Nutr. 22, 835–853.
- Malinowski, D.P., Belesky, D.P., 2000. Adaptations of endophyte–infected cool–season grasses to environmental stresses: mechanisms of drought and mineral stress tolerance. Crop. Sci. 40, 923–940.
- Malinowski, D.P., Alloush, G.A., Belesky, D.P., 1998. Evidence for chemical changes on the root surface of tall fescue in response to infection with the fungal endophyte *Neotyphodium coenophialum*. Plant Soil 205, 1–12.
- Malinowski, D.P., Zuo, H., Belesky, D.P., Alloush, G.A., 2004. Evidence for copper binding by extracellular root exudates of tall fescue but not perennial ryegrass infected with *Neotyphodium* spp. endophytes. Plant Soil 267, 1–12.
- Materechera, S.A., Alston, A.M., Kirby, J.M., Dexter, A.R., 1992. Influence of root diameter on the penetration of seminal roots into a compacted subsoil. Plant Soil 144, 297–303.
- Meister, B., Krauss, J., Härri, S.A., Schneider, M.V., Müller, C.B., 2006. Fungal endosymbionts affect aphid population size by reduction of adult life span and fecundity. Basic Appl. Ecol. 7, 244–252.
- Mikola, J., Helander, M., Saikkonen, K., 2016. No effects of *Epichloë* endophyte infection on nitrogen cycling in meadow fescue (*Schedonorus pratensis*) grassland. Plant Soil 405, 257–264.
- Miranda, M.I., Omacini, M., Chaneton, E.J., 2011. Environmental context of endophyte symbioses: interacting effects of water stress and insect herbivory. Int. J. Plant Sci. 172, 499–508.
- Mirzahosseini, Z., Shabani, L., Sabzalian, M.R., Sharifi-Tehrani, M., 2015. ABC transporter and metallothionein expression affected by NI and *Epichloë* endophyte infection in tall fescue. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 120, 13–19.
- Moballegh, Z., 2017. Symbiotic Effect of Endophytic Fungus, *Piriformospora indica*, with Wheat and Maize on Soil Structural Stability Indices, and Physical and Chemical Properties. MSc Thesis (in Farsi with English abstract), Isfahan University of Technology, Isfahan, Iran.

- Mohd, S., Shukla, J., Kushwaha, A.S., Mandrah, K., Shankar, J., Arjaria, N., Saxena, P.N., Narayan, R., Roy, S.K., Kumar, M., 2017. Endophytic fungi *Piriformospora indica* mediated protection of host from arsenic toxicity. Front. Microbiol. 8, 1–14.
- Molitor, A., Zajic, D., Voll, L.M., Pons-Kühnemann, J., Samans, B., Kogel, K.H., Waller, F., 2011. Barley leaf transcriptome and metabolite analysis reveals new aspects of compatibility and *Piriformospora indica*-mediated systemic induced resistance to powdery mildew. Mol. Plant Microbe Interact. 24, 1427–1439.
- Monnet, F., Vaillant, N., Hitmi, A., Sallanon, H., 2005. Photosynthetic activity of *Lolium perenne* as a function of endophyte status and zinc nutrition. Funct. Plant Biol. 32, 131–139.
- Moreira, B.C., Mendes, F.C., Mendes, I.R., Paula, T.A., Junior, P.P., Salomao, L.C.C., Stürmer, S.L., Otoni, W.C., Kasuya, M.C.M., 2015. The interaction between arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and *Piriformospora indica* improves the growth and nutrient uptake in micropropagation–derived pineapple plantlets. Sci. Hortic. 197, 183–192.
- Morse, L.J., Day, T.A., Faeth, S.H., 2002. Effect of *Neotyphodium* endophyte infection on growth and leaf gas exchange of *Arizona fescue* under contrasting water availability regimes. Environ. Exp. Bot. 48, 257–268.
- Munns, R., Tester, M., 2008. Mechanisms of salinity tolerance. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 59, 651–681.
- Nagabhyru, P., Dinkins, R.D., Wood, C.L., Bacon, C.W., Schardl, C.L., 2013. Tall fescue endophyte effects on tolerance to water–deficit stress. BMC Plant Biol. 13, 1–17.
- Nanda, R., Agrawal, V., 2018. *Piriformospora indica*, an excellent system for heavy metal sequestration and amelioration of oxidative stress and DNA damage in *Cassia angustifolia* Vahl under copper stress. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 156, 409–419.
- Narayan, O.P., Verma, N., Singh, A.K., Oelmüller, R., Kumar, M., Prasad, D., Kapoor, R., Dua, M., Johri, A.K., 2017. Antioxidant enzymes in chickpea colonized by *Piriformospora indica* participate in defense against the pathogen *Botrytis cinerea*. Sci. Rep. 7, 1–11.
- Nassimi, Z., Taheri, P., 2017. Endophytic fungus *Piriformospora indica* induced systemic resistance against rice sheath blight via affecting hydrogen peroxide and antioxidants. Biocontrol Sci. Technol. 27, 252–267.
- Nautiyal, C.S., Chauhan, P.S., DasGupta, S.M., Seem, K., Varma, A., Staddon, W.J., 2010. Tripartite interactions among *Paenibacillus lentimorbus* NRRL B–30488, *Piriformospora indica* DSM 11827, and *Cicer arietinum* L. World J. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 26, 1393–1399.
- Newman, J.A., Abner, M.L., Dado, R.G., Gibson, D.J., Brookings, A., Parsons, A.J., 2003. Effects of elevated CO₂, nitrogen and fungal endophyte-infection on tall fescue: growth, photosynthesis, chemical composition and digestibility. Glob. Chang. Biol. 9, 425–437.
- Ngwene, B., Boukail, S., Söllner, L., Franken, P., Andrade-Linares, D.R., 2016. Phosphate utilization by the fungal root endophyte *Piriformospora indica*. Plant Soil 405, 231–241.
- Nievola, C.C., Carvalho, C.P., Carvalho, V., Rodrigues, E., 2017. Rapid responses of plants to temperature changes. Temperature 4, 371–405.
- Nongbri, P.L., Oelmüller, R., 2013. Role of *Piriformospora indica* in sulfur metabolism in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. In: Varma, A., Kost, G., Oelmüller, R. (Eds.), *Piriformospora indica*: Sebacinales and their Biotechnological Applications. Springer, Berlin, pp. 295–309.
- Omacini, M., Semmartin, M., Pérez, L.I., Gundel, P.E., 2012. Grass–endophyte symbiosis: a neglected aboveground interaction with multiple belowground consequences. Appl. Soil Ecol. 61, 273–279.
- Panda, S., Busatto, N., Hussain, K., Kamble, A., 2019. *Piriformospora indica*-primed transcriptional reprogramming induces defense response against early blight in tomato. Sci. Hortic. 255, 209–219.

- Paul, N.C., Deng, J.X., Sang, H.K., Choi, Y.P., Yu, S.H., 2012. Distribution and antifungal activity of endophytic fungi in different growth stages of chili pepper (*Capsicum annuum* L.) in Korea. Plant Pathol. J. 28, 10–19.
- Pérez, L.I., Gundel, P.E., Omacini, M., 2016. Can the defensive mutualism between grasses and fungal endophytes protect non–symbiotic neighbours from soil pathogens? Plant Soil 405, 289–298.
- Ponce, M.A., Bompadre, M.J., Scervino, J.M., Ocampo, J.A., Chaneton, E.J., Godeas, A.M., 2009. Flavonoids, benzoic acids and cinnamic acids isolated from shoots and roots of Italian rye grass (*Lolium multiflorum* Lam.) with and without endophyte association and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus. Biochem. Syst. Ecol. 37, 245–253.
- Popay, A.J., Tapper, B.A., Podmore, C., 2009. Endophyte–infected meadow fescue and loline alkaloids affect Argentine stem weevil larvae. N.Z. Plant Prot. 62, 19–27.
- Prasad, D., Verma, N., Bakshi, M., Narayan, O.P., Singh, A.K., Dua, M., Johri, A.K., 2019. Functional characterization of a magnesium transporter of root endophytic fungus *Piriformospora indica*. Front. Microbiol. 9, 1–14.
- Qawasmeh, A., Raman, A., Wheatley, W., Nicol, H., 2012. Antioxidative capacity of phenolic compounds extracted from *Lolium perenne* and *Lolium arundinaceum* infected with *Neotyphodium* (Hypocreales: Clavicipitaceae). Act. Physiol. Plant. 34, 827–833.
- Rabiey, M., Ullah, I., Shaw, M.W., 2015. The endophytic fungus *Piriformospora indica* protects wheat from fusarium crown rot disease in simulated UK autumn conditions. Plant Pathol. 64, 1029–1040.
- Rabiey, M., Ullah, I., Shaw, L.J., Shaw, M.W., 2017. Potential ecological effects of *Piriformospora indica*, a possible biocontrol agent, in UK agricultural systems. Biol. Control 104, 1–9.
- Ren, A.Z., Li, X., Han, R., Yin, L.J., Wei, M.Y., Gao, Y.B., 2011. Benefits of a symbiotic association with endophytic fungi are subject to water and nutrient availability in *Achnatherum sibiricum*. Plant Soil 346, 363–373.
- Ren, A., Wei, M., Yin, L., Wu, L., Zhou, Y., Li, X., Gao, Y., 2014. Benefits of a fungal endophyte in *Leymus chinensis* depend more on water than on nutrient availability. Environ. Exp. Bot. 108, 71–78.
- Rho, H., Hsieh, M., Kandel, S.L., Cantillo, J., Doty, S.L., Kim, S.H., 2018. Do endophytes promote growth of host plants under stress? A meta–analysis on plant stress mitigation by endophytes. Microb. Ecol. 75, 407–418.
- Rillig, M.C., Mardatin, N.F., Leifheit, E.F., Antunes, P.M., 2010. Mycelium of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi increases soil water repellency and is sufficient to maintain water-stable soil aggregates. Soil Biol. Biochem. 42, 1189–1191.
- Rodriguez, R.J., White Jr., J.F., Arnold, A.E., Redman, A.R.A., 2009. Fungal endophytes: diversity and functional roles. New Phytol. 182, 314–330.
- Rojas, X., Guo, J., Leff, J.W., McNear, D.H., Fierer, N., McCulley, R.L., 2016. Infection with a shoot–specific fungal endophyte (*Epichloe*) alters tall fescue soil microbial communities. Microb. Ecol. 72, 197–206.
- Rosenblueth, M., Martínez-Romero, E., 2006. Bacterial endophytes and their interactions with hosts. Mol. Plant Microbe Interact. 19, 827–837.
- Rozpądek, P., Wężowicz, K., Nosek, M., Ważny, R., Tokarz, K., Lembicz, M., Miszalski, Z., Turnau, K., 2015. The fungal endophyte *Epichloë typhina* improves photosynthesis efficiency of its host orchard grass (*Dactylis glomerata*). Planta 242, 1025–1035.
- Saari, S., Richter, S., Robbins, M., Faeth, S.H., 2014. Bottom–up regulates top–down: the effects of hybridization of grass endophytes on an aphid herbivore and its generalist predator. Oikos 123, 545–552.
- Sabzalian, R.M., Mirlohi, A.F., 2010. Neotyphodium endophytes trigger salt resistance in tall and meadow fescues. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 173, 952–957.

- Saddique, M.A.B., Ali, Z., Khan, A.S., Rana, I.A., Shamsi, I.H., 2018. Inoculation with the endophyte *Piriformospora indica* significantly affects mechanisms involved in osmotic stress in rice. Rice 11, 1–12.
- Saedi, T., Mosaddeghi, M.R., Sabzalian, M.R., Mamedov, A.I., 2021a. Effect of *Epichloë* endophyte-tall fescue symbiosis on rhizosphere aggregate stability and quality indicators under oxygen-limited conditions. Geoderma 381, 114624.
- Saedi, T., Mosaddeghi, M.R., Sabzalian, M.R., Zarebanadkouki, M., 2021b. *Epichloë* endophyte symbiosis may improve tall fescue responses to flooding and oxygen-limited conditions. Plant Soil (under review).
- Saha, J., Brauer, E.K., Sengupta, A., Popescu, S.C., Gupta, K., Gupta, B., 2015. Polyamines as redox homeostasis regulators during salt stress in plants. Front. Environ. Sci. 3, 1–13.
- Saikkonen, K., 2007. Forest structure and fungal endophytes. Fungal Biol. Rev. 21, 67-74.
- Saikkonen, K., Wäli, P.R., Helander, M., 2010. Genetic compatibility determines endophyte–grass combinations. PLoS One 5, 1–6.
- Saikkonen, K., Young, C.A., Helander, M., Schardl, C.L., 2016. Endophytic *Epichloë* species and their grass hosts: from evolution to applications. Plant Mol. Biol. 90, 665–675.
- Sartipnia, N., Khavari-Nejad, R.A., Babaeizad, V., Nejad-Sattari, T., Najafi, F., 2013. Effect of *Piriformospora indica* on antioxidant enzymes activity of tomato (*Lycopersicon esculentum* Mill) under lead stress. Int. J. Biosci. 3, 55–64.
- Schardl, C.L., Florea, S., Pan, J., Nagabhyru, P., Bec, S., Calie, P.J., 2013. The *Epichloë*: alkaloid diversity and roles in symbiosis with grasses. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 16, 480–488.
- Schulz, B.J.E., 2006. Mutualistic interactions with fungal root endophytes. In: Schulz, B.J.E., Boyle, C.J.C., Sieber, T.N. (Eds.), Microbial Root Endophytes. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Germany, pp. 261–280.
- Serfling, A., Wirsel, S.G., Lind, V., Deising, H.B., 2007. Performance of the biocontrol fungus *Piriformospora indica* on wheat under greenhouse and field conditions. Phytopathology 97, 523–531.
- Shymanovich, T., Faeth, S.H., 2019. Environmental factors affect the distribution of two *Epichloë* fungal endophyte species inhabiting a common host grove bluegrass (*Poa alsodes*). Ecol. Evol. 9, 6624–6642.
- Slaughter, L.C., 2016. Effects of *Epichloë Coenophiala*–Tall Fescue Symbiosis on Plant-Microbe-Soil Interactions in a Temperate Pasture. PhD Thesis, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY.
- Slaughter, L.C., Nelson, J.A., Carlisle, A.E., Bourguignon, M., Dinkins, R., Phillips, T., McCulley, R.L., 2019. Tall fescue and *E. coenophiala* genetics influence root-associated soil fungi in a temperate grassland. Front. Microbiol. 10, 1–13.
- Soleimani, M., Afyuni, M., Hajabbasi, M.A., Nourbakhsh, F., Sabzalian, M.R., Christensen, J.H., 2010a. Phytoremediation of an aged petroleum contaminated soil using endophyte infected and non-infected grasses. Chemosphere 81, 1084–1090.
- Soleimani, M., Hajabbasi, M.A., Afyuni, M., Mirlohi, A., Borggaard, O.K., Holm, P.E., 2010b. Effect of endophytic fungi on cadmium tolerance and bioaccumulation by *Festuca arundinacea* and *Festuca pratensis*. Int. J. Phytoremediation 12, 535–549.
- Song, M., Li, X., Saikkonen, K., Li, C., Nan, Z., 2015. An asexual *Epichloë* endophyte enhances waterlogging tolerance of *Hordeum brevisubulatum*. Fungal Ecol. 13, 44–52.
- Soto-Barajas, M.C., Zabalgogeazcoa, I., Gómez-Fuertes, J., González-Blanco, V., Vázquezde-Aldana, B.R., 2016. *Epichloë* endophytes affect the nutrient and fiber content of *Lolium perenne* regardless of plant genotype. Plant Soil 405, 265–277.
- Stein, E., Molitor, A., Kogel, K.H., Waller, F., 2008. Systemic resistance in Arabidopsis conferred by the mycorrhizal fungus *Piriformospora indica* requires jasmonic acid signaling and the cytoplasmic function of NPR1. Plant Cell Physiol. 49, 1747–1751.

- Su, Z.Z., Wang, T., Shrivastava, N., Chen, Y.Y., Liu, X., Sun, C., Yin, Y., Gao, Q.K., Lou, B.G., 2017. *Piriformospora indica* promotes growth, seed yield and quality of *Brassica napus* L. Microbiol. Res. 199, 29–39.
- Sun, C., Johnson, J.M., Cai, D., Sherameti, I., Oelmüller, R., Lou, B., 2010. *Piriformospora indica* confers drought tolerance in Chinese cabbage leaves by stimulating antioxidant enzymes, the expression of drought–related genes and the plastid–localized CAS protein. J. Plant Physiol. 167, 1009–1017.
- Sun, X., Luo, X., Sun, M., Chen, C., Ding, X., Wang, X., Yang, S., Yu, Q., Jia, B., Ji, W., 2013. A Glycine soja 14–3–3 protein GsGF1 40 participates in stomatal and root hair development and drought tolerance in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Plant Cell Physiol. 55, 99–118.
- Swarthout, D., Harper, E., Judd, S., Gonthier, D., Shyne, R., Stowe, T., Bultman, T., 2009. Measures of leaf–level water–use efficiency in drought stressed endophyte infected and non–infected tall fescue grasses. Environ. Exp. Bot. 66, 88–93.
- Tadych, M., Bergen, M., Dugan, F.M., White Jr., J.F., 2007. Evaluation of the potential role of water in spread of conidia of the *Neotyphodium* endophyte of *Poa ampla*. Mycol. Res. 111, 466–472.
- Torres, M.S., White Jr., J.F., Zhang, X., Hinton, D.M., Bacon, C.W., 2012. Endophytemediated adjustments in host morphology and physiology and effects on host fitness traits in grasses. Fungal Ecol. 5, 322–330.
- Trzewik, A., Maciorowski, R., Klocke, E., Orlikowska, T., 2020. The influence of *Piriformospora indica* on the resistance of two rhododendron cultivars to *Phytophthora cinnamomi* and *P. plurivora*. Biol. Control 140, 1–9.
- Unnikumar, K.R., Sree, K.S., Varma, A., 2013. Piriformospora indica: a versatile root endophytic symbiont. Symbiosis 60, 107–113.
- Van de Staaij, J., de Bakker, N.V.J., Oosthoek, A., Broekman, R., van Beem, A., Stroetenga, M., Aerts, R., Rozema, J., 2002. Flavonoid concentrations in three grass species and a sedge grown in the field and under controlled environment conditions in response to enhanced UV–B radiation. J. Photochem. Photobiol. B Biol. 66, 21–29.
- Varkey, S., Anith, K.N., Narayana, R., Aswini, S., 2018. A consortium of rhizobacteria and fungal endophyte suppress the root–knot nematode parasite in tomato. Rhizosphere 5, 38–42.
- Varma, A., Verma, S., Sudh, A., Sahay, N., Butehron, B., Franken, P., 1999. *Piriformospora indica*, a cultivable plant-growth-promoting root endophyte. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 65, 2741–2744.
- Varma, A., Abbott, L., Werner, D., Hampp, R., 2007. Plant Surface Microbiology. Springer-Verlag, Germany.
- Varma, A., Sree, K.S., Arora, M., Bajaj, R., Prasad, R., Kharkwal, A.C., 2014. Functions of novel symbiotic fungus—*Piriformospora indica*. Proc. Indian Natl. Sci. Acad. 80, 429–441.
- Vázquez-de-Aldana, B.R., Zabalgogeazcoa, I., García-Criado, B., 2013. An *Epichloë* endophyte affects the competitive ability of *Festuca rubra* against other grassland species. Plant Soil 362, 201–213.
- Verhagen, B.W., Glazebrook, J., Zhu, T., Chang, H.S., Van Loon, L.C., Pieterse, C.M., 2004. The transcriptome of rhizobacteria–induced systemic resistance in *Arabidopsis*. Mol. Plant Microbe Interact. 17 (8), 895–908.
- Waller, F., Achatz, B., Baltruschat, H., Fodor, J., Becker, K., Fischer, M., Heier, T., 2005. The endophytic fungus *Piriformospora indica* reprograms barley to salt–stress tolerance, disease resistance, and higher yield. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 102, 13386–13391.
- Wang, J., Zhou, Y., Lin, W., Li, M., Wang, M., Wang, Z., Kuang, Y., Tian, P., 2017. Effect of an *Epichloë* endophyte on adaptability to water stress in *Festuca sinensis*. Fungal Ecol. 30, 39–47.

- Wang, J., Tian, P., Christensen, M.J., Zhang, X., Li, C., Nan, Z., 2019. Effect of *Epichloe* gansuensis endophyte on the activity of enzymes of nitrogen metabolism, nitrogen use efficiency and photosynthetic ability of *Achnatherum inebrians* under various NaCl concentrations. Plant Soil 435, 57–68.
- Wenzel, W.W., 2009. Rhizosphere processes and management in plant-assisted bioremediation (phytoremediation) of soils. Plant Soil 321, 385–408.
- Weyens, N., van der Lelie, D., Taghavi, S., Vangronsveld, J., 2009. Phytoremediation: plant–endophyte partnerships take the challenge. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 20, 248–254.
- Wężowicz, K., Rozpądek, P., Turnau, K., 2017. Interactions of arbuscular mycorrhizal and endophytic fungi improve seedling survival and growth in post–mining waste. Mycorrhiza 27, 499–511.
- White, J.F., Bacon, C.W., Hinton, D.M., 1997. Modifications of host cells and tissues by the biotrophic endophyte *Epichloe amarillans* (Clavicipitaceae; Ascomycotina). Can. J. Bot. 75, 1061–1069.
- Wu, M., Wei, Q., Xu, L., Li, H., Oelmüller, R., Zhang, W., 2018. *Piriformospora indica* enhances phosphorus absorption by stimulating acid phosphatase activities and organic acid accumulation in *Brassica napus*. Plant Soil 432, 333–344.
- Xia, C., Li, N., Zhang, X., Feng, Y., Christensen, M.J., Nan, Z., 2016. An *Epichloe* endophyte improves photosynthetic ability and dry matter production of its host *Achmatherum inebrians* infected by *Blumeria graminis* under various soil water conditions. Fungal Ecol. 22, 26–34.
- Xia, C., Christensen, M.J., Zhang, X., Nan, Z., 2018. Effect of *Epichloë gansuensis* endophyte and transgenerational effects on the water use efficiency, nutrient and biomass accumulation of *Achnatherum inebrians* under soil water deficit. Plant Soil 424, 555–571.
- Xu, L., Wang, A., Wang, J., Wei, Q., Zhang, W., 2016. *Piriformospora indica* confers drought tolerance on *Zea mays* L. through enhancement of antioxidant activity and expression of drought-related genes. Crop J. 5, 251–258.
- Xu, L., Li, X., Han, L., Li, D., Song, G., 2017. *Epichloë* endophyte infection improved drought and heat tolerance of tall fescue through altered antioxidant enzyme activity. Eur. J. Hortic. Sci. 82, 90–97.
- Xu, L., Wu, C., Oelmüller, R., Zhang, W., 2018. Role of phytohormones in *Piriformospora indica*–induced growth promotion and stress tolerance in plants: more questions than answers. Front. Microbiol. 9, 1–13.
- Yadav, V., Kumar, M., Deep, D.K., Kumar, H., Sharma, R., Tripathi, T., Tuteja, N., Kumar, A., Johri, A.K., 2010. A phosphate transporter from the root endophytic fungus *Piriformospora indica* plays a role in phosphate transport to the host plant. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 26532–26544.
- Yan, J.F., Broughton, S.J., Yang, S.L., Gange, A.C., 2015. Do endophytic fungi grow through their hosts systemically? Fungal Ecol. 13, 53–59.
- Yun, P., Xu, L., Wang, S.S., Shabala, L., Shabala, S., Zhang, W.Y., 2018. *Piriformospora indica* improves salinity stress tolerance in *Zea mays* L. plants by regulating Na⁺ and K⁺ loading in root and allocating K⁺ in shoot. Plant Growth Regul. 86, 323–331.
- Zabalgogeazcoa, I., 2008. Fungal endophytes and their interaction with plant pathogens: a review. Span. J. Agric. Res. 6, 138–146.
- Zabalgogeazcoa, İ., Ciudad, A.G., de Aldana, B.R.V., Criado, B.G., 2006. Effects of the infection by the fungal endophyte *Epichloë festucae* in the growth and nutrient content of *Festuca rubra*. Eur. J. Agron. 24 (4), 374–384.
- Zamani, N., Sabzalian, M.R., Khoshgoftarmanesh, A.H., Afyuni, M., 2015. Neotyphodium endophyte changes phytoextraction of zinc in *Festuca arundinacea* and *Lolium perenne*. Int. J. Phytoremediation 17, 456–463.

- Zhang, X., Li, C., Nan, Z., 2010. Effects of cadmium stress on growth and anti-oxidative systems in Achnatherum inebrians symbiotic with Neotyphodium gansuense. J. Hazard. Mater. 175, 703–709.
- Zhang, W., Wang, J., Xu, L., Wang, A., Huang, L., Du, H., Qiu, L., Oelmüller, R., 2018. Drought stress responses in maize are diminished by *Piriformospora indica*. Plant Signal. Behav. 13, 1–12.
- Zhou, L., Li, C., Zhang, X., Johnson, R., Bao, G., Yao, X., Chai, Q., 2015. Effects of cold shocked *Epichloe* infected *Festuca sinensis* on ergot alkaloid accumulation. Fungal Ecol. 14, 99–104.